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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “directors”)
of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited, (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | hereby present to
all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) the audited
consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 (the “Financial Year”) with comparative figures for
the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Previous Financial Year”).

The business environment has been particularly challenging
during the year. Due to the trade conflicts between China and
US and the outbreak of COVID-19 this year. This has resulted
in a drop in revenue of approximately 22% from HK$18,599,000
in the Previous Financial Year to HK$14,580,000 in the Financial
Year.

The Group made impairment losses for the investment in
associated company, Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
(“Extrawell”) and the investment in convertible bond issued
by Extrawell (all together the “Investment”) in previous years.
During the Financial Year, the Group disposed the Investment.
The loss attributable to the owners of the Company was
improved from amounted to approximately HK$260,272,000 for
the Previous Year to HK$222,462,000 for the Financial Year due
to no impairment for the Investment.
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OUTLOOK

Against the current situation of COVID-19 which leads to
economic uncertainties in the global environment and the
trade conflicts between China and US, we foresee that it will
take longer time before the trading of beauty equipment and
products business can fully recover

The Group also engages in development a technology that
would allow insulin to be administered orally. Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19, the timetable of the Clinical Trial was
disrupted and temporarily suspended. Based on the current
information available, subject to the COVID-19 situation
improving, the timetable to commercialise the product will be
adjusted to the fourth quarter of 2022.

The Company continues to actively pursue and review
cooperation, joint ventures, and investments with suitable
partners and will continue to focus on improving the Group’s
attractiveness and profitability as necessary to enhance
shareholder returns and the sustainable long-term development
of the Group as a whole.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all the members of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued support and
trust during the past year, and my most sincere appreciation
to the directors, management, and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard work, and contributions to the Group.

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2020

Chairman’s Statement
FEWE

B2

T COVID-19EBH 2 FRIRIB LB TIERNIR
Mo ARPEEZHRE  BRMERERR
BREREBEAPREMATZEER

AEENMMERABERN  FRERESXATTO
ik o B FA COVID-19%% JiF /& 3 - & PR8I &0
REAXRZIFE  TEREIE - BREA
BER - FCOVID19MRRIFER » ERE
BB EREABRE T _F5MNZE
J‘g °

AprEBREBYeedar 680
ELRRERE 2 RHL BEBHNIES AN
SE 2B N R BFEN(RLEE) -
ENRERERE AN EERE ZAFERD
B -

B

AAERERIBERRE2BESESRKE 8
BRREAEEEBBZHBE —FHNEAX
BREAREHRE AANTELYES -
EEERELETIELEE HVDITHER
BAEBEENER  BUAREHH

=
=)

BE
FE
B ZE-FF A=+ NAH

2020 % EMBEREVREERALTF 5



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFWR DM

GROUP RESULTS

Revenue of the Group for the Financial Year amounted to
approximately HK$14,580,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 21.57% as compared with the total revenue of
approximately HK$18,589,000 that was recorded in the Previous
Financial Year. The decrease was mainly attributable to a
decrease in business of the trading of beauty equipment and
products segment during the Financial Year. Loss attributable
to the owners of the Company decrease to HK$222,462,000 for
the Financial Year, a decrease of HK$37,810,000 from the loss
of HK$260,272,000 that was recorded in the Previous Financial
Year. The decrease of loss was primarily due no impairment for
the interest in the associate and less amount of loss for change
in fair value of investments in convertible bonds as they were all
disposed during the Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The Group commenced the trading of beauty equipment and
products since June 2013. During the Financial Year, revenue
arising from the trading of beauty equipment and products
amounted to approximately HK$14,580,000, representing a
decrease of approximately 21.57% from the revenue in the
amount of approximately HK$18,589,000 that was recorded in
the Previous Financial Year. The trading revenue was adversely
affected by the surge of the COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in
decrease in both the turnover and gross profit.

Investments in Extrawell

Since 2013 the Company has acquired shares and convertible
bonds issued by Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
(“Extrawell”), a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Extrawell became an
associate company of the Group. The Group’s investments in
Extrawell are recorded in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position under interests in associates and investments
in convertible bonds.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Investments in Extrawell continuea)

On 23 June 2019, the Company entered into the sale and
purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with
a substantial shareholder (the “Purchaser”) to conditionally
disposed of (i) 457,510,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell,
represented 19.14% of the entire issued share capital of
Extrawell (the “Sales Shares”) and (i) the convertible bonds
issued by Extrawell with an aggregate outstanding principal
amount of HK$577,170,000 (the “Sales CBs”) for a consideration
of HK$270,000,000 (the “Disposal”). The Disposal constitutes a
very substantial disposal under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules
a connected transaction for under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal is subject to the shareholder’s
approval at the special general meeting.

The aggregate consideration for the Sale Shares and the Sale
CBs was HK$270,000,000 (the “Consideration”). Amongst the
Consideration, HK$50,000,000 was for the purchase of the Sale
Shares and HK$220,000,000 was for the purchase of the Sale
CBs. The Consideration was satisfied by the Purchaser in the
following manner:

() asum of HK$50,000,000 of cash paid by the Purchaser to
the Company;

(i) the balance of the Consideration (being HK$220,000,000)
shall be paid and set off by the purchase by the Company
from the Purchaser of HK$248,000,000 of the outstanding
company convertible bonds issued by the Company which
registered in the name of the Purchaser at a consideration
of HK$220,000,000.

The Disposal was approved by the shareholders at the special
general meeting held on 4 October 2019. On 8 October 2019, all
conditions precedent under the Sale and Purchase Agreement
have been fulfilled and the completion took place. The Group
has not held any shares and convertible bonds of Extrawell upon
completion of the Disposal and Extrawell was no longer be the
associated company of the Group.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE At am Mo

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development

The in-process research and development project (the “In-
process R&D”) represented an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
“Product”). The Group will inject additional resources into clinical
trial of the In-process R&D and consolidate the effort of the
project team in order to facility the development of it.

Thus far, the Group has financed the research and development
segment with the Group’s internal resources but remains active
and open to other fund-raising and partnership activities to
further develop the Group’s portfolio and development.

The in-process R&D was recorded as intangible asset in Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position with carrying
value of HK$1,373,224,000. The management performs the
impairment assessment at the end of each reporting period.

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset is determined
based on fair value calculations which used cash flow
projections prepared by the management of the Group using
certain key assumptions. Key assumptions for the fair value
calculations were based on estimated cash inflows derived from
budgeted sales and gross margin which estimated based on the
expectations for the market development.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to
the In-process R&D cover a 10 years period from the
commercialisation of the Product. The calculation used in the
cash flow projections with certain key parameters are as below:
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At the end of the Financial Year, the Directors of the Company
have performed impairment assessments on the intangible asset
by reference to the valuation conducted by Roma Appraisals
Limited, an independent qualified valuer. The recoverable
amount of the intangible asset is determined based on the
estimated fair value of the In-process R&D. Based on the
assessment, the recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible
asset is estimated to be higher than the carrying amount and
therefore the Directors of the Company considered that no
impairment is necessary as at 31 March 2020.
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BUS' N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Research and development (continueq)

On 27 July 2018, a shareholders’ loan agreement was entered
into between the Company and Extrawell Group, pursuant to
which, the Company and Extrawell agreed to advance a total
sum of HK$30 million to Smart Ascent Limited in the proportion
of 51% and 49%, respectively. The management considered that
there is sufficient resources to funding the development of the
Product.

The management of the Company is closely working with the
contract research organization (“CRQO”). The Part B of phase
[l clinical trials (the “Clinical Trial”) had registered in the Center
for Drug Evaluation, National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) in October 2019.

Due to the outbreak of the coronavirus since early 2020, the
normal operations of the participating hospitals for the Clinical
Trial had been severely disrupted. In order to ensure the safety
of patients and clinical researchers, research projects such
as the Clinical Trial had been temporarily suspended and as
result there had been a delay in the selection and enrolment of
patients for the Clinical Trial.

Given that there is a large number of participating hospitals,
the patients will be divided into different groups. Subject to the
coronavirus situation improving, it is currently expected that the
enrolment of the first batch of patients will commence in July
2020. The enrolment of patients will be an ongoing process and
is expected to be completed during the period from January
2021 to March 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, The Group has invited 22
hospitals to participate in the Clinical Trial, of which 14 hospitals
have already accepted the invitation.

Based on the currently available information, subject to the
coronavirus situation improving, the Company expects that the
Product would commence generating revenue for the Group in
fourth quarter of 2022.

The Group will make further announcements depending on
situation and in accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) if there is any material development.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE At am Mo

BUSI N ESS REVI EW (Continued)

Convertible bonds issued by the Company

The Company acquired 51% interest in the share capital of
Smart Ascent in the year of 2014. As part of the consideration
of the acquisition of Smart Ascent, on 28 July 2014, the
Company issued to Extrawell (the “Bondholder”) the convertible
bonds with 3.5% interest per annum for a conversion period
of 7 years from the date of issue in the principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 (the “Convertible Bond”). The interest is paid
annually.

On 26 July 2019, the Company and the Bondholder entered
into the amendment deed (the “Amendment Deed”) in which
the Company and the Bondholder have conditionally agreed
to amend the interest payment terms of the Convertible Bond
to the effect that i) the interest payment due dates would
be amended from payment of interest in arrears annually to
payment of interest for the period from 28 July 2018 to 27
July 2019, interest for the period form 28 July 2019 to 27 July
2020 and interest for the period 28 July 2020 to 27 July 2021
on or before 28 July 2021; and ii) the Company shall pay to
the Bondholder a sum of additional interest in the amount of
HK$11,261,250 on 28 July 2021 (representing 15% per annum
on the annual interest payment under the Convertible Bond
multiplied by three), being the additional interest for 2-year
extension for the payment of interest for the period 28 July 2018
to 27 July 2019 and 1 year extension for payment of interest for
the period 28 July 2019 to 27 July 2020.

The Amendment Deed was approved in special general meeting
held on 8 October 2019 and all conditions precedent under the
Amendment Deed have been fulfiled and those amendments
took effect from 28 October 2019.

PROSPECTS

Trading of beauty equipment and products

The major trading products of the Group are beauty equipment
and beauty products, and sales of these beauty equipment
and beauty products represent the major component that
contributes to the Group’s revenue.
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PROS PECTS (Continued)

Trading of beauty equipment and products (continuea)
Revenues and profit margins of the Group from the trading
segment have been relatively stable in the past and trading
volume is the key determiner of the profitability of the segment.
However, the recent political issues in Hong Kong and the trade
conflicts between China and US will have an unpredictable
impact on the economy in Hong Kong and China. Furthermore,
the COVID-19 global pandemic has caused the temporary
closure of the boarders and thus has affected the flow of goods
and services of our trading activities and have negative effect
on the Group’s trading business turnover and projects. The
Group anticipates that the recovery will commence in the fourth
quarter of 2020. The Group will cautiously explore the trading
business in Hong Kong and China. The Group will reinforce
our risk management policy and will proactive in adopting
timely measures to balance its risk and return in the long run.
The Group competes by offering trading terms that are more
favourable to its suppliers and vendors compared to the Group’s
competitors.

Securities investment

The management of the Group is optimistic on the long term
recovery of the markets but they also remain cautious on the
direction of the market in the near-term. The Group continues to
manage a diverse portfolio of Asian stocks and bonds.

Research and development

Subject to the coronavirus situation improving, the Clinical Trials
of the Product testing for the first group of subjects is expected
to commence in August 2020. The timetable for obtaining
the Certificate of New Medicine and the Pharmaceutical
Manufacturing Permit, subject to the approval of NMPA and
generating revenue of the Product has been adjusted from the
mid of 2020 and January 2022 to late second quarter of 2022
and fourth quarter of 2022, respectively.

To further ensure that the Product will be able to commercialise
by fourth quarter of 2022, the Group will also allocate more
human resources to the project and strengthen its project
team so that relevant personnel of the project team will
regularly monitor the progress and make regular reports to the
management of the Company so as to ensure the In-process
R&D can be completed according to the Group’s schedule.

Securities investment

The management of the Group is optimistic on the long-term
recovery of the markets but they also remain cautious on the
direction of the market in the near-term. The Group continues to
invest in equity funds managed by a professional fund manager.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEPITHHH& Tﬁ

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital structure

Authorised: ERT
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

HK$0.01 each 0.01B Tz EBA

31 March
2020

31 March
2019
—E-hE
=Z=A=+—8H
HK$°000

FE T

HK$’000
TR

50,000,000,000/% & f% H &

(the “Shares”) (M 1) 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEROTEEHT:
1,464,193,024 Shares 1,464,193,024 % A% 17 14,642 14,642
Liquidity and financial resources REBEERUKEER

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank and cash balances
of approximately HK$22.9 million (31 March 2019: approximately
HK$17.1 million).

As at 31 March 2020, total borrowings of the Group were
approximately HK$835.7 million (31 March 2019: approximately
HK$755.5 million) which reflected the debt value of the
Company’s unconverted convertible bonds, lease liabilities,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to former
non-controlling interest, loans from a substantial shareholder,
amount due to a former associate, loan from a former associate
and loan from a non-controlling interest.

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities of the Group
was 0.60 as at 31 March 2020 as compared to the 1.37 as at
31 March 2019. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2020
was 0.60 (831 March 2019: 0.50) which is calculated based on
the Group’s total liabilities of approximately HK$851.1 million (31
March 2019: approximately HK$783.9 million) and the Group’s
total assets of approximately HK$1,418.9 million (31 March 2019:
approximately HK$1,578.8 million).

The Group places importance on security, short-term
commitment, and availability of the surplus cash and cash
equivalents.

R-E-_TF=ZA=+—H AXEBZR
TR & 4 8 4 /22,900,000 70 (= F
—NE=A=+—8: #17100,000/&7T) °

RZFE-ZZFF-_A=+—H AEEZH
f& B 49 /3835,700,000/8 T (—Z T — N F =
ﬂf‘f’ H : £9755,500,000/& 7T) © RERZAR
NBEZ R Hxﬁ%?z{ﬁﬁ%{%fﬁ aE|
ERE  EBAFERERFA - B ATE
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RREFFERERER

AEEBR-_TE-_TF=RA=+—HZR
BEEHRHEEZLEE060 MR
—TE—NAFZAZ=Z+—HAIA137 K
EER_T_EF=-A=+—HZER
BELEA0BO(ZCE—AE=A=1+—
H:050) DiIRBEAEEBEFHEBY
851,100,0007%7_5(:3@—71¢EﬂE‘i'—
: #7783,900,0008 L) M A EE 2 B E
ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ14189oooooﬁ§n< T— ﬂifﬂ
=+—H:#41,578,800,000/ 7T) 5t &
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R HAGEAN AT AL o
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (coniinveq)

Significant acquisition and investments

Save as mentioned above, the Group had no other significant
investments, nor had it made any material acquisition or disposal
of the Group’s subsidiaries or associated companies during the
Financial Period.

Charges on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2020, the Group and the Company did not have
any charges on their assets (31 March 2019: nil).

Contingent liabilities
Details of litigation and contingent liabilities are set out in note
32 of the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign exchange exposure

The monetary assets and liabilities and businesses of the Group
are mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, Renminbi, and
United States Dollars. The Group maintains a prudent strategy
in its foreign exchange risk management, with the foreign
exchange risk being minimised through balancing the foreign
currency monetary assets against foreign currency monetary
liabilities, and foreign currency revenue against foreign currency
expenditure. The Group did not use any financial instruments to
hedge against foreign currency risk during the Financial Year.
The Group will continue to monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and consider hedging foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Number and numeration of employees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 29 full time employees
(81 March 2019: 23), most of whom work in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC. The increase in staff is due to the
preparation of the commencement of the Clinical Trial in the
coming future. It is the Group’s policy that the remuneration
of employees and Directors are in line with the market and
commensurate with their responsibilities. Discretionary year-
end bonuses are payable to the employees based on individual
performance. Other employee benefits include medical
insurance, retirement schemes, training programmes, and
education subsidies.

Total staff costs including the Directors’ remuneration for
the Financial Year amounts to approximately HK$7.9 million
(Previous Financial Year: approximately HK$6.2 million).

Segment information
Details of the segment information are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Eii uT nFﬂi& Tﬁ

VIEWS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND
THE BOARD ON THE AUDITOR’S OPINION

The auditor expressed an qualified opinion in the independent
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the ended 31 March 2020 (the “2020 Qualified
Opinion”). Please refer to section headed “Basis for qualified
Opinion” in the “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this annual
report for more details.

The management of the Company and the board of the
Company (the “Board”) had discussed with the auditor in
respect of the 2020 Qualified Opinion and understood that the
2020 Qualified Opinion was related to those comparative figures
and related disclosures contained the opening balances, i.e. 1
April 2018.

The management ‘s position and assessment on the 2020
Quialified Opinion are as follows: -

a. As confirmed with the auditor, there is no qualification for
the balances as at 31 March 2019 and 2020.

b.  The 2020 Qualified Opinion was only related to those
comparative figures and related disclosures contained the
opening balances, i.e. 1 April 2018.

The management is of view that the 2020 Qualified Opinion was
resulted by the comparability issue which should be deemed as
a technical issue in auditing.

The auditor also had discussed with the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) regarding the 2020 Qualified
Opinion and explained to the Audit Committee that the 2020
Qualified Opinion was resulted from the comparability issue on
those comparatives figures and related disclosures contained
the opening balances only.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the management and
the Board’s position and concurred with the position of the
management to the 2020 Qualified Opinion and the basis
thereof.

The Audit Committee is of the view that the 2020 Qualified
Opinion should be deemed as a technical issue in auditing.
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The Company had discussed with the auditor about the removal
of the 2020 Qualified Opinion in respect of the consolidated
financial statements in the coming year. The Company is of
the view that the 2020 Qualified Opinion in relation to the
comparative figures and related disclosures contained the
opening balances (i.e. 1 April 2018) will be removed in the next
year’s auditors’ report. It is because: -

a. There was no audit qualification in respect of the balances,
including intangible asset as at 31 March 2019 and 2020.
Hence, there will be no issue on the comparability in the
next year’s consolidated financial statements.

b. The balances of 1 April 2018, which formed the basis
for the opening balances of the comparative figures in
the consolidated financial statements would no longer
be disclosed in the next year’s consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted and complied with all the code
provisions as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) during the Financial Year, except for the deviations
discussed below.

Code provision A.2.1

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this report, no suitable candidate has been identified and the
role of chief executive officer remains vacant. The Company is
continually looking for a suitable person to assume this role.

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term and should be subject to
re-election.

The Company has deviated from the Code provision A.4.1.
The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors were not appointed for specific term but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years in accordance with the provision of the Company’s Bye-
laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of this Code provision.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE At am Mo

Code provision E1.5

Code provision E.1.5 stipulates that the Company should
have a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Directors believe that, despite the absence of specified
terms for non-executive Directors, the Directors are committed
to representing the long-term interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. All
Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-
compliance was noted by the Company in the Financial Year.

Tang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, aged 65, has been appointed as an
executive director with effect from 4 January 2016. From 15
March 2011 to 4 January 2016, Mr. Gao was the chairman and
executive director of North Mining Shares Company Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Gao previously worked in the foreign affairs office of
the Shanghai Municipal Government, and has had senior
management roles in numerous international, PRC investment,
and commercial companies.

Mr. Tang Rong, aged 53, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 29 September 2014. Mr. Tang
graduated from Fudan University in the People’s Republic
of China in July 1989 with a bachelor’'s degree in science,
majoring in genetics and genetic engineering. He has been
an engineer of The Institute of Genetics of Fudan University
from November 1989 and has extensive experience in genetics
related technology development, commercialization and market
development. Mr. Tang successfully filed several patents in
China and published papers in many science magazines in
genetics related subjects. He was invited as the member of the
Committee of Experts of /&8 R E AR F#FEbt (Shanghai
Lianzhong Institute of Gene Technology) in 2000. Starting from
November 2010, Mr. Tang was appointed as the director of Gene
Testing Research and Development Department of Longmark
(Shanghai) Healthcare Limited and he has professional expertise
in gene testing and research and development.

Ms. Huang He, aged 38, has been appointed as an executive
director with effect from 10 January 2017. Ms. Huang has
over 10 years of experience in corporate and investment
management as well as mergers and acquisitions in the PRC.
From 13 October 2016 to 20 December 2016, Ms. Huang
was the executive director of Kong Shum Union Property
Management (Holding) Limited, a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Huang is currently
the legal representative and chairman of several companies
that were incorporated in the PRC. From 7 August 2015 to 20
February 2017, Ms. Huang was also the executive director of
China Ocean Fishing Holdings Limited whose shares are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Management Profile
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Management Profile
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Jiang Nian, aged 66, has been appointed as a non-
executive director and chairman of the Company with effect
from 21 December 2010 and 10 June 2011 respectively. Ms.
Jiang is a member of the remuneration Committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Jiang graduated
from ZHEFEERRKZEEE D REFEHR (Junior College, Provincial
Campus of Anhui Radio and Television University) in August
1986, majoring in Chinese Language and Literature. Ms. Jiang
was the Associate Dean of the School of Life Sciences of Fudan
University from June 2003 to April 2010. She also serves as
an authorised representative of Bf & EE A WME X E R A A
(United Gene Biomedical Limited). She has extensive experience
in general administrative management particularly in the field of
genomic research.

Ms. Xiao Yan, aged 40, has been appointed as a non-executive
director with effect from 22 May 2012. Ms. Xiao graduated
from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics with a
bachelor’s degree in Accounting in 2007. Ms. Xiao has served
as an administrative manager of the chief executive, Dr. Xie,
in BtA&EZER AR AR (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited) since 2002. Ms. Xiao has extensive experience in
medical services and general administration. From December
2011 to November 2012, she served as the finance manager
of CNL (Pinghu), which is an indirectly owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Ms. Wu Yanmin, aged 43, has been appointed as a non-
executive director with effect from 8 June 2011. Ms. Wu
graduated from the School of Life Sciences, Shanghai University
in 1999 with a bachelor’s degree in biochemistry. Ms. Wu joined
5 £ RF R AR 2A A (United Gene Technology Holdings
Limited), a genetic engineering company substantially owned by
Dr. Mao Yumin (“Dr. Mao”) indirectly, in 2001 and was responsible
for general administrative duties. Since 2006, Ms. Wu has served
as an assistant to the chairman of United Gene Holdings Limited,
and is responsible for assisting the chairman in handling various
investment projects. Ms. Wu has extensive experience in general
administrative and investment management. Starting from
December 2012, she was appointed as the finance manager of
CNL (Pinghu).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chen Weijun, aged 62, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 6 November
2009 and is the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company. Ms. Chen is currently the manager in the business
department of Shanghai Ruihe Certified Public Accountants Co.,
Ltd.. She was formerly the finance supervisor of the companies
indirectly owned by Dr. Mao from April 2001 to June 2003. She
graduated from the Chinese Communist Party Central Party
College and has been a registered accountant in the PRC since
2005. She has more than 30 years of experience in accounting,
finance and audit services.

Dr. Zhang Zhihong, aged 80, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Dr. Zhang graduated from Fudan University majoring in
biophysics in 1963 and obtained a doctorate degree in science
from Kyoto University, Japan in 1988. From 1990 to 1991, Dr.
Zhang was a senior visiting fellow at the medical school of
Harvard University in the United States of America. From 1986
to 2000, Dr. Zhang undertook various senior positions at Fudan
University, including the officer of the Department of Physiology
and Biophysics and the associate dean of the School of Life
Sciences. Dr. Zhang was the deputy chairman of the Biophysical
Society of China from 1994 to 2002 and the chairman of the
Shanghai Society of Biophysics from 2000 to 2008. Dr. Zhang
has extensive knowledge and is highly regarded in the field of
biophysics and physiology in China.

Mr. Wang Rongliang, aged 71, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director with effect from 8 June
2011 and is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Wang graduated from £/ M &% — B8 T RXZ2 (Shanghai
First Commercial Bureau Staff College) majoring in business
and economics. He acted as a deputy manager of F/8tH%&E
B E 4 AR 2AF (Shanghai 700 Group Advertising Company
Limited) from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in operation and administrative management.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship between
any members of the Board, and no information relating to the
directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules
13.51(2) and 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, aged 54, has been appointed as the
company secretary, financial controller and an authorised
representative of the Company with effect from 14 May 2013.
Mr. Poon is qualified as a Certified Public Accountant registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
is also a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Poon has been a managing director of Probiz
CPA Limited since 2006.
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External Consultant Profile
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Dr. Mao Yumin, aged 68, has been engaged as the chief
scientific adviser and honorary chairman of the Company since
1 September 2010, responsible for providing advisory and
consultancy services to the Group in relation to the research
and development of its genetic testing products and other
scientific technologies. Dr. Mao is a substantial shareholder of
the Company. He was a member of the Consultant Committee
of Fudan University, the dean of the School of Life Sciences
and Institute of Genetics of Fudan University, and the director
of State Key Laboratory of Genetic Engineering in Fudan
University. Dr. Mao’s main area of research focuses on biological
and genetic engineering. Dr. Mao has accumulated extensive
experiences in operations in the genomic research based
industry.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the Financial Year, the Company adopted and has
complied with all the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) except for the deviations discussed below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. All directors have
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the Financial Year. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company in the Financial Year. Relevant
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidance on no less exacting terms than the Model
Code throughout the Financial Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the Financial Year are set
out below:

Executive directors
Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He

Non-executive directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang

Further details of the composition of the Board are set out in the
section headed “Management Profile” on pages 17 to 19.

The Board considers the balance between executive directors
and non-executive directors is adequate to safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. Independent non-executive directors
can also provide the Group with diversified expertise and
valuable experience. Their independent advice can bring
independent judgment to the decision making of the Board and
bring new ideas to the formulation of corporate strategy.
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The directors oversee the financial performance and formulate
business strategies and determine the corporate governance
policy of the Group, as well as discuss any significant matters
relating to the Group at the Board meetings. Daily operational
matters are delegated to the management of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company and considers and approves the
overall strategies and policies of the Group. During the Financial
Year, the Board held 12 meetings. The attendance of each
member at the Board meeting is set out as follows:

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing =R B S A&

Mr. Tang Rong BB EAE

Ms. Huang He =L
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman) BEw+(EE)
Ms. Xiao Yan Bk 2+

Ms. Wu Yanmin SRR d 2zt
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

directors

Ms. Chen Weijun PRIEA X+

Dr. Zhang Zhihong RERIE L

Mr. Wang Rongliang TEBREE

All directors, including independent non-executive directors,
have given sufficient time and effort to the affairs of the Group.

Code provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 stipulate that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

Ms. Jiang Nian is the chairman of the Group. As at the date of
this annual report, no suitable candidate for the role of chief
executive officer has been identified and the role remains
vacant. The Company is continually looking for a suitable person
to assume this role.
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Board General
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10/12 3/3
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INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors’ training

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
as directors and of the business and activities of the Group. As
such, briefings are provided and organised to ensure that newly
appointed directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties and responsibilities as director as well as
the business and corporate governance practices of the Group.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code, directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. For the
period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, all directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by ways of attending training or reading material
relevant to the Company’s business or to the directors’ duties
and responsibilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, trainings received by each
director are summarised as follows:

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing = RS &
Mr. Tang Rong B EAE
Ms. Huang He B R
Ms. Jiang Nian BELL
Ms. Xiao Yan Huk&Z L
Ms. Wu Yanmin RIS+
Ms. Chen Weijun BRIEE 2+
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REBEL
Mr. Wang Rongliang FERRBREE
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code provision A.4.1

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for specific term and
should be subject to re-election.

The Company has deviated from the code provision A.41. The
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors
were not appointed for specific term but are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at least once every three years in
accordance with the provision of the Company’s bye-laws. As
such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to serve the purpose and objective of this Code provision.

The directors believe that, despite the absence of specified
term of non-executive directors, the directors are committed
to representing the long-term interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee was set up on 30
June 2008. The majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee shall be independent non-executive directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@) to advise the Shareholders on whether the terms of service
contracts that require the Shareholder’s approval are fair
and reasonable;

(b) to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure;

(c) to establish guidelines for recruitment of members of the
senior management;

(d) to determine the remuneration of members of the senior
management; and

(e) to formulate remuneration policy and make recommendations
to the Board on annual remuneration review.

Remuneration of the directors and senior management is reviewed
and fixed by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to
the market benchmarks and industry norms, and their duties
and responsibilities in the Group, having regard to the expertise,
performance and experience possessed by individual directors.

FHUTESE

<F AU A% X SE A4 14
CEEATHZ TG EALUERTE -
NTEFZEARERTAS  LAR
HEE

AR R]E R BEST R SCE A4 © FEHTT
EENBYUFRATESZZALERTE
E8 - HARBEARE Z AR A&
ELB=FHRESRE RALBEEL - A
It - RAR RSB R S5 5 AR & %
BTGB 2 RmERBRE -

EXRE BEFUATETZRILENR
XS EFARBNRERARR AR
ReBERENS -

FMEES
ARAREBEETRMNZBEEANE@ S R
BEARAFMHZES(FMEEEDZ
BERE - FHEZEEN_FTTN\FXRA
—tHAEKY FMEES 2RO KEE
RBIFERITES -

FZEe s T2BENT:

(@ BLABRRLEZRESHERTE
EBAVFAERBKRREHRER:

) RAKBZHFMHBERELARBAES
SRHEEBRR:

© HEFSREREEKEHFTHES:
d ET=AEEBKREZFHM: &

@ HEHFMEREAFEHMRIR
ExgRfERERS -

EFLERERE FHaTMEERR
TR LBBETIREER AR
REERAEEZBEEREARSES
THERW RAREREEE -

24  INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Corporate Governance Report
rEREAWME

During the Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee held WA KFE  HFWEZEES DT RTIAE
1 meeting. The attendance of each member at the committee % > SKXENZE S &% 2 HE LT

meeting is set out as follows: Wn
Meetings
attended/Total
meetings held
during the
Financial Year
U BFE
HESBRRE
BIZEREY
Non-executive director FHITES
Ms. Jiang Nian BELL 1/1
Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES
Dr. Zhang Zhihong wREBBL 1/
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (FTHZEEE2F/E)
Mr. Wang Rongliang TEREBREE 1/1
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZES

The Company has established a nomination committee of the ARABER-_ZT——F= A+ HEILA
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 16 March 2012. RARIZIEZ/ZEE€([IRELZE8E]) - WA
During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 BHFE @ RELZESBETIAETE &
meeting. The attendance of each member at the committee HKENZE €& H 2 HFELHEHINMT:
meeting is set out as follows:

Meetings
attended/Total
meetings held
during the
Financial Year
B BFEE
HESEB B
BIT2EREH
Non-executive director FHITES
Ms. Jiang Nian BHErt 1/1
Independent non-executive directors BUKEHTES
Dr. Zhang Zhihong REEBL 1/1
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (BN Z B & E )
Mr. Wang Rongliang FERREE 1/1
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The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with due
regard to Board diversity, and to assess the independence of
non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee adopted a board diversity policy that
set out the Group’s approach to diversify members of the Board
and the Group holds the view that this board diversity policy
will lead to a Board with diverse perspectives. Factors that will
be considered in the assessment of the diversity of a director’s
perspective include, but are not limited to, gender, age, culture,
skill, knowledge, educational background and professional
experience. Presently, the Board comprises of nine directors,
of which three are independent non-executive directors, with
significant diversity in gender, age, professional experience,
educational and cultural background, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of
a retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Group’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director
or a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation for
the Board’s consideration and approval.
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For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.

The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board
a candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the case
may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board and recommend the candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (for a retiring director) at
the general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The directors confirm that the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
directors also confirm that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been published in a timely manner.

The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubts upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditors’ Report”
on pages 46 to 52 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Group’s external auditor is Elite Partners CPA Limited. For
the Financial Year, the auditor of the Company had performed
audit services and their remuneration in respect of audit services
was HK$1,100,000.

There was no non-audit services provided by the auditor of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the Code:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is composed of three independent non-executive
directors. At least one of the members of the Audit Committee
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under the
Listing Rules.

The primary functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(@ to serve as a focal point for communication between the
directors and external auditors;
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(b) to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility by providing
an independent review with the management of the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group,
and supervision of financial reporting, and monitoring and
reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and the adequacy of the external audit;

() to review the appointment of external auditors on an
annual basis as well as to ensure continuing auditors
independence;

(d) to develop and monitor the applications of the policies on
the engagement of the external auditors to perform other
professional services (other than tax-related services); and

(e) to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures.

The Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the
Financial Year were reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 5 meetings during the Financial Year.
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Meetings

attended/Total

meetings held

during the

Financial Year

M REFEE

HEERRE

HTzeREAY

Ms. Chen Weijun BRIEA X+ 5/5
(Chairman of the Audit Committee) (BERZEEF/E)

Dr. Zhang Zhihong RERIEL 5/5

Mr. Wang Rongliang TEBREE 4/5

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests, and to review the
effectiveness of such systems regularly. The risk management
and internal control systems include defined management
structure with limits of authority set at various levels, which is
designed to safeguard assets, ensure the maintenance of proper
records, provide reliable financial information for internal use
or publication, and ensure compliance with regulations. During
the Financial Year, the Board has reviewed the internal control
procedures of the Group and consider the risk management and
internal control systems to be adequate and effective.
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The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an
outsourced internal audit team, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee.

The report provided internal audit findings and any action
to be taken by management as a result. These findings and
recommendations for improvement will be communicated
to the respective management for their responses and
corrective actions. The Group’s management team monitors
the implementation of its recommendations and reports the
outcome to the Audit Committee.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(i)

30

Procedures for convening of a special general
meeting and putting forward proposals at

shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general
meetings. Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, any
one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition (the “Written Requisition”)
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company
(at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong),
to require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, an annual
general meeting shall be called by a written notice of not
less than twenty-one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days and any special general
meeting at which the passing of a special resolution is to
be considered shall be called by a written notice of not less
than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days. Business day under the Listing Rules
means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
accordance with the provision of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Procedures for directing enquiries to the
Company

To direct enquiries to the Board, Shareholders should
submit his/her/its enquires in writing with contact details
(including, registered name, address and telephone
number, etc.) to the Company Secretary at the following:

By post to the head office and principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West Tower Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong.

Tel: (852) 2598 6818
Fax: (852) 2598 6628

Matters relating to share registration

For share registration related matters, such as share
transfer and registration, change of name and address
of Shareholders, loss of share certificates or dividend
warrants, Shareholders can contact the Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office at the following:

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2810 8185

Fax: (852) 2980 1333

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a

person for election as a director

Subject to the provisions of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Shareholders may from time to time in general meeting by
Ordinary Resolution elect any person to be a director either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director.

Shareholder(s) may propose a person other than an
existing director of the Company for election as a director
at a general meeting. The Shareholder(s) must deposit a
written notice (the “Notice”) to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

The Shareholder(s) must prove his/her/their shareholding in
the Company.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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The Notice must be signed by the Shareholder(s) (other
than a person to be proposed) and shall be accompanied
by the following information and documents:

the full name and the contact information of the
Shareholder(s);

the contact details, age and the full name of the
person proposed for election as a director of the
Company;

biographical details of the person proposed for
election as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules;

letter of consent signed by the person proposed to be
elected that he or she consents to be director of the
Company, if elected.

The Notice and the abovementioned information
and documents must be lodged with the Company
commencing from the day after despatch of the notice of
the general meeting and ending no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to uphold a high level of corporate
transparency. Keeping Shareholders, investors, analysts,
bankers and other stakeholders informed of its corporate
strategies and business operations has been one of the key
objectives of its investor relations team.
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The directors hereby submit their report with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands and continued in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Unit No. 2111, 21/
F, West Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 March 2020 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 6 to 16 of this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and
uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks
and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are
not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Certain of the business segments in which the Group operates
are subject to the overall economic growth of the PRC, which
is subject to ever-changing economic policy changes of the
PRC government. Any adverse changes in economic policies of
the PRC government could materially and adversely affect the
Group’s business.

The valuation of the intangible asset of the Group is tied to the
Group’s ability to successfully complete the development and
commercialisation of the Product and the policy of medical
examination and the medical policy. As at the date of this report,
the Product is still in the research and development stage,
uncertainty as to when the product can be launched exits. In
addition, commercialisation is subject to uncertainty and risks
arising from the results of the clinical trial of the Product and the
assessment of the National Medical Products Administration.
These factors may be beyond the control of the Group. Any
delay or failure in the Group’s ability to do so may adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial performance.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with every function at divisional and departmental
levels. The Group recognises that operational risks cannot
be eliminated completely and that it may not always be cost
effective to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The
Group will identify and assess key operational exposures from
time to time and report such risk issues to senior management
as early as possible so that appropriate risk response can be
taken.

Financial Risk
The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 54 to 55. The directors do
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Financial
Year. There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

The state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 56
to 57.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Financial Year in the
share capital of the Company are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 58 to 59. There were no
distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2020 (31
March 2019: Nil).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the convertible bonds issued by the Group are set out
in note 30 to consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Gao Yuan Xing

Mr. Tang Rong

Ms. Huang He

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Jiang Nian (Chairman)

Ms. Xiao Yan

Ms. Wu Yanmin

Mr. Gao Yuan Xing, Mr. Tang Rong and Ms. Jiang Nian are also
directors in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chen Weijun

Dr. Zhang Zhihong

Mr. Wang Rongliang

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, one third of
the directors for the time being shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Tang
Rong, Dr. Zhang Zhihong and Ms. Huang He shall retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2020 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting had a service contract that was not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the directors and senior
management are set out on pages 17 to 19 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
directors, chief executive of the Company or their associates in
any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which is otherwise
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of director Capacity

ESHR

)

Beneficial owner

EmBEBEA

Tang Rong
B R

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
directors, chief executive of the Company nor their associates
had any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required to be recorded in the register by the Company
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which is
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Financial Year or at any time
during the Financial Year, nor was there any other contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the Financial
Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRREMATRAROR
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND HEROZEZER AR

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the register of interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
kept under Section 336 of the SFO showed that, the following
entities had an interest or deemed interest of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company:

RZEZEF=ZA=Z+—8 " BREFHK
B E &P E3361KTFE 2 AR A KM &E
Bz AR ERMATHE - T T
BRAAREBITRATHEE SR AH
B5%3 A FRERS
REQTERITRAZHRE

Long positions in the issued share capital of the

Company

Number of
shares/
underlying

Long (L) or
Short (S)

Percentage of
the issued
share capital of

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held position the Company
R N
FEZRG/ HRL)R B#1T
RRE® 5% HERGHE KE(S) REBDH
Dr. Mao Yumin (note 1) Beneficial owner 1,187,200,000 L 81.08%
EHREET (M) Ex#AA
Interest of a controlled corporation 88,951,350 L 6.08%
SEHEEz E R
United Gene Holdings Limited (note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 88,951,350 L 6.08%
e ERERER AR (M) SEGEEz ER
Dr. Xie Yi (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 88,951,350 L 6.08%
MR AL (E2) REtEE R
Ease Gold Investments Limited Interest of a controlled corporation 88,951,350 L 6.08%
(note 2) (Fi#5E2) REtEE R
Good Links Limited (note 3) (K z£3) Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350 L 0.95%
REtEE R
Victory Trend Limited (note 3) (% £3) Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350 L 0.95%
REGEE B R
Best Champion Holdings Limited (note 4)  Interest of a controlled corporation 13,951,350 L 0.95%
EERARRR (M) REGEE B R
China United Gene Investment Beneficial owner 13,951,350 L 0.95%
Holdings Limited ExBEAA
(note 5) (KT 5E5)
Chau Yiu Ting Beneficial owner 328,600,000 L 22.44%
BB B2 EGHAA
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Notes:

1. These include (i) 363,200,000 ordinary shares held by Dr. Mao directly;
(i) 824,000,000, 55,000,000 and 20,000,000 derivative shares held by
Dr. Mao, JNJ Investments Limited (“JNJ”) and United Gene International
Holdings Group Limited respectively, which shall be issued by the
Company upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of HK$359,600,000
issued by the Company. JNJ is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
United Gene Group Limited, which is in turn owned as to 33% by United
Gene Holdings Limited. United Gene International Holdings Group Limited
is wholly-owned by JNJ; (i) 13,951,350 ordinary shares held through
China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited, which is held as to 60%
by Best Champion Holdings Limited, and which is in turn held as to 33.5%
and 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited and Victory Trend Limited
respectively. Victory Trend Limited is wholly owned by Good Links Limited.
United Gene Holdings Limited and Good Links Limited are 100% and 50%
held by Dr. Mao respectively.

2. Ease Gold Investments Limited, is wholly-owned by Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”),
which owns 33.50% and 33% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings
Limited and United Gene Group Limited respectively.

3. Victory Trend Limited is wholly-owned by Good Links Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 50% by Dr. Mao and as to 50% by Dr. Xie. Victory Trend
Limited owns 33.00% equity interests of Best Champion Holdings Limited.

4. The equity interest of Best Champion Holdings Limited is owned as to
33.50%, 33.50% and 33.00% by United Gene Holdings Limited, Ease
Gold Investments Limited and Victory Trend Limited, respectively.

5. China United Gene Investment Holdings Limited is owned as to 60% by
Best Champion Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the directors were not aware of any
other relevant interests or short positions of 5% or more in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director confirming his/
her independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related parties transactions entered into by
the Group during the Financial Year is contained in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The following transactions between certain connected persons
(as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group have been
entered into during the Financial Year and/or are ongoing for
which relevant announcements, if necessary, had been made
by the Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Connected transactions

On 23 June 2019, the Company, as vendor, and Dr. Mao Yumin,
as purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Sale and Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, subject to the special general meeting
and among other matters, the Company agreed to sell and Dr
Mao agreed to acquire all the shares in Extrawell Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”) (the “Sale Shares”) and the
convertible bonds issued by Extrawell (the “Sale CB”) held by
the Company at an aggregate consideration of HK$270,000,000
(the “Consideration”).

The Sales Shares, being 457,510,000 shares, represent
approximately 19.14% of the entire issued share capital of
Extrawell.

The Sale CB are carrying an aggregate outstanding principal
amount of HK$577,170,000. The Sale CB attach the conversion
right at a conversion price of HK$0.6413 per Extrawell share.
The Sale CB are convertible into 900,000,0000 shares in
Extrawell upon exercise in full.

Amongst the Consideration, HK$50,000,000 is for the purchase
of the Sale Shares. The remaining of the Consideration
HK$220,000,000 is for the purchase of the Sale CB.

The Consideration was satisfied by i) a sum of HK$50,000,000
of cash; ii) HK$220,000,000 shall be paid and set off
by the purchase by the Company from the Purchaser of
HK$248,000,000 of the outstanding convertible bonds issued by
the Company which registered in the name of Dr. Mao.

Dr. Mao is a connected person of the Company by virtue of
being a controlling shareholder of the Company. As such, the
transaction constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under rule 14A of the Listing Rules.
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On 8 October 2019, all conditions precedent under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement have been fulfilled and the completion took
place.

Continuing connected transactions

Since 31 August 2010, the Company has engaged Dr. Mao
to provide advisory and consultancy services to the Group in
relation to research and development of the Group’s genetic
testing products, and other scientific technologies. In this role,
Dr. Mao is the Company’s chief scientific adviser and currently
receives a monthly service fee of HK$56,000. The previous
agreement with Dr. Mao commenced on 1 September 2016, for
a period of three years, and was renewed on 31 August 2019 for
an additional period of three years, unless terminated earlier in
accordance with the agreement.

To the best knowledge of the directors, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
subsisting during the Financial Year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETITORS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, other
than those businesses of which the directors were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of such businesses, no
director is considered to have had an interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the management on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors for the Financial Year are
decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, their duties and responsibilities in the Group, individual
performance and comparable market statistics, and have been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee during the Financial
Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 6 November 2009 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of recognising and motivating the contributions
of the Group’s eligible employees, non-executive directors,
shareholders, customers, and suppliers to the Group which,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the Adoption Date. The Share Option Scheme
was refreshed on 3 November 2010 to increase the maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
(the “Options”) to the amount in aggregate not exceeding
1,216,450,806 Shares being 10% of the Shares in issue of the
Company as at 3 November 2010.

The exercise price of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the grant. No option may be granted to any
individual in any 12-month period if the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the option granted to
an individual in any 12-month period exceeds 1% of the share
capital of the Company in issue unless approval by shareholders
is obtained.

The Share Option Scheme was expired on 5 November 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had not granted any options
to eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme and there were
no outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the Financial
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the directors and substantial
Shareholders or any of their associates to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme and the Convertible
bonds issued as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares, or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
Shares, were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other
officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
or trusts. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group did not make any charitable
donation (2019: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s total purchases and
sales attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers
respectively during the Financial Year is as follows:
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At no time during the Financial Year had any of the directors,
their close associates or any Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) held an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture.
The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with its suppliers and customers to fulfil
its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain its market
competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high standards and high quality products to its
customers. During the year under review, there was no material
and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/
or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

Environmental conservation remains a key focus for the
Group. The conscientious use of resources and adoption of
best practices across the Group’s businesses underlie its
commitment to safeguarding the environment. The Group
encourages environmental protection and complies with
environmental legislation and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to the employees.

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, enhancement on procedure
monitoring, energy conservation and environment protection
were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement
of environmental management. Several measures have been
implemented by the Group in order to promote environmental
protection.

The Company will publish a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report as close as possible to, and in any event
no later than three months after, the publication of this annual
report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those that
have significant impact on the Group. The audit committee of
the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the
date of this report, the directors believe that the number of
securities of the Company which are in the hands of the public
is above the relevant prescribed minimum percentage under the
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

Details of the litigation and contingent liabilities are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Corporate Governance Report of the Company are
set out on pages 21 to 32 of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the five years ended 31 March 2020 is set out on
pages 171 to 172 of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year were audited
by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Nian
Chairman
Shanghai, 29 June 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To The Shareholders of

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Island and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 54 to 170, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described
in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Prior year’s audit scope limitation affecting
opening balance of comparative figures for the
Group’s intangible assets

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 contained a
qualified opinion on the limitation of audit scope in relation to
the opening balance on the Group’s intangible assets. Details
of which had been set out in the auditor’s report dated 28 June
2019.

As the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019 formed the basis for the comparative
figures presented in the current year’s consolidated financial
statements, any adjustments found to be necessary in respect
of the opening balance (i.e. 1 April 2018) on the intangible asset
would have a significant effect on the results of the year ended
31 March 2019 and the related disclosures thereof for the
comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2020.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY IN RELATION TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention in note 3(a) to the consolidated financial
statements which describes that the Group has net current
liabilities of approximately HK$28,354,000 for the year ended
31 March 2020. These conditions, along with other matters as
set in note 3(a) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of on this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,

matters to be communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of intangible asset

Key audit matters

HEEREE

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of intangible asset
of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 represents an in-process
research and development project in oral insulin product.
RZE_ZEE=ZA=Z+-H EFEENEKBERN
1,373,224,000 THERARES RE R EEETHHER
E o

The Group is required to, at least annually, perform
impairment assessment of intangible asset that have an
indefinite useful life.
EREFER O BFRABERAEAFHNETEEET
— BB R

\

In carrying out the impairment assessment, intangible asset
has been allocated to research and development cash
generating unit (“R&D CGU”). Significant judgements and
assumptions are required by the management of the Group in
assessings the recoverable amounts of intangible asset. The
recoverable amounts are determined by the assumptions,
including the revenue growth rate, gross profit ratio and long-
term growth rate used in the cash flow projections and the
discount rate.
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in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in
the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matter described below to be the key audit
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEEHEERTNEERLE

Our major audit procedures to address this matter included the
following
EHHUNEENFEEREFBETIEE:

o Evaluating the independent qualified professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity and reviewing
their terms of engagement with the Group;

o HHBURERZERMEMOTI®R RARTEIL ¥
ENREE ESEEANGKT

o Obtaining the external valuation reports and discussion
with valuer about the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumption applied in the valuation
model including discount rates and growth rates;

o HBNMBRERE THRMEEMMEEERE MAHE
&ihﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁiﬁﬂ%&ﬁ“%m% 15 (B 1
Hﬁiﬁ?&j‘ﬁ?) TTu—JLuFH]

o Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation;

s REMERLHEER:

o Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;

o REERAANBRBILBARBAEAEERE:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continveq)
Impairment assessment of intangible asset

(Continued)
Key audit matters

AREBEREEw

BREENBERN G

How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEFEREER

Management engaged an independent qualified professional e
valuer to prepare valuation report for the assessment of the
recoverable amount of intangible asset, which involved the
exercise of significant judgement and estimation.
ERERERBUAERZEEMGEMURTHELEENTR
AeRRUEERS  EPSRIELERAGREE - .

We identified the impairment assessment of intangible asset
as a key audit matter, because management involved the
exercise of significant judgement and estimation.
BEBBVEENAENGABREREE HRERE
RIELBARHBRMGEE -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

EEEBERPNEEL X

Obtaining and performing sensitivity analysis around
the key assumptions, to ascertain that selected adverse
changes to key assumptions, both individually and in
aggregate, would not cause the carrying amount of
intangible asset to exceed its recoverable amount.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AZ B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
for the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate
number PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor

8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong

29 June 2020

Independent Auditors’ Report
B 2B RS
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBEEkEMAZERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_T_ZF=—A=1+—"HILFE

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue Wz 6 14,580 18,589
Cost of sales == N (12,960) (16,842)
Gross profit EH 1,620 1,747
Other income H 1 A 8 30 1,992
Other gains and losses, net Hiblhzs K E1E - 58 8 (49,406) (117,605)
Administrative expenses TR 2 (22,643) (26,744)
Research and development MR
expenses (11,336) (1,934)
Share of results of associates DIEEE RNREE 18 6,312 13,326
Finance costs M ER 9 (147,039) (131,693)
Loss before income tax FriS iRl 8 (222,462) (260,911)
Income tax expense FEHAx 10 - —
Loss for the year FENEIE 11 (222,462) (260,911)
Other comprehensive income/ HEmemibks (X
(expenses):
Iltems that may be reclassified Higa] gt R Yy
subsequently ZH /::/'
to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive EEHE AR AEMmEE
income of associates g 18 (1,388) (12,619)
Exchange differences on MEBIINEBZERE
translation of 7
foreign operations 1,601 3
Release of share of other B Bt N BB AR R
comprehensive income of aiiR/N= P
associates upon disposal of an HEz2mmkas
associate 13,319 —
Other comprehensive income/ FRAEMZEKE
(expenses) for the year (M%) 13,532 (12,616)
Total comprehensive expense for FRNE2ERAZ BT
the year (208,930) (273,527)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBakEMemkas

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-Z-ZF=-A=1T—HILFE

2020 2019
—EC2HF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: ATATEAFEAREIE:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIET PN (211,117) (260,272)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R R (11,345) (639)
(222,462) (260,911)
Total comprehensive expense for WTATEEFANZERX
the year 4aFE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIE RN (197,585) (272,888)
Non-controlling interests FE1E AR #E 5 (11,345) (639)
(208,930) (273,527)
HK cents HK cents
Al ol
Loss per share i EE 15
Basic BN (14.42) (17.78)
Diluted e (14.42) (17.78)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARR R

As at 31 March 2020
RZEZFEF=HA=+—H

2020 2019
Notes HK$ 000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FE T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment WM BENFE 16 35 95
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 3,433 —
Interests in associates REtE Na R 18 - 48,954
Investments in convertible bonds AR EFEE 19 - 111,942
Intangible asset wm L 20 1,373,224 1,373,224
1,376,692 1,534,215
Current assets MENEE
Trade receivables B 5N IR 3 21 15,608 21,176
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE - He REME
receivables W k18 22 3,642 6,305
Bank balances and cash IRITHB LIRS 24 22,936 17,058
42,186 44 539
Current liabilities mEas
Trade payables BN 25 10,253 21,214
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 2,285 —
Accruals and other payables JEET B AR E M E N IR 5,140 7,273
Amounts due to non-controlling JE A< IE 22 A% 25 3R IE
interests 28 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former non- &< A JE 158 AR 4 55 3R IE
controlling interest 28 823 823
Loan from a substantial —UEERERER
shareholder 28 7,000 —
Amount due to a former associate JE T BT BSE 2 A R R IB 28 41,947 —
70,540 32,402
Net current (liabilities)/assets a8k BEFHE (28,354) 12,137
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAEME 1,348,338 1,546,352
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RE IR

As at 31 March 2020

RZEBE-EF=A=+—H

2020 2019
Notes HK$ 000 HK$’000
B 5 FH T FHE T
Non-current liabilities EmBatE
Convertible bonds Al IR 1 & 30 743,142 658,632
Lease liabilities HEA®E 26 1,111 -
Loan from a substantial —UEEREER 28
shareholder — 25,000
Amount due to a former associate JE 1S BB & N B 2 FRE 28 - 41,952
Loan from a non-controlling REFIERERE R 28
interest 20,929 20,929
Loan from a former associate RERHE AR 2B K 28 15,383 5,027
780,565 751,540
NET ASSETS EEFHE 567,773 794,812
Capital and reserves B R K {5
Share capital & < 31 14,642 14,642
Reserves & (405,015) (89,599)
Equity attributable to owners of the AR T A A FE{L #E 25
Company (390,373) (74,957)
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR A 2 36 958,146 869,769
TOTAL EQUITY XL 567,773 794,812

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 170 were ﬁﬁA%MEEE%WOEZF MB®mERE
approved by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2020 and are HEZRER_T_F ﬂz/\ﬂ —t+hB#E

signed on its behalf by: WHATEEREE
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
BE BB
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
= =
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-_ZT-TF-A=-+—HLHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARRAES

Foreign
Share  Convertible currency Non-
Share premium  bonds equity Others Statutory translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses interests equity

B3
EHER 5 Bk
R Eftf EERE ; i L5 [ $:3 :$:5 1]
HK$'000 HK$'000 0 0 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAT T TAL AL
(Note a) d
(R ta)

As at 31 March 2018

14,642 1,119,294 1,152,862 4828 347 (1,602) (2,093,954) 196,417 870,408 1,066,825
New adoption of HKFRS 9
- - - - - - 1,514 1,514 - 1,514
Asat 1 April 2018 RZF-N\E
MA-H 14,642 1,119,294 1,152,862 4828 347 (1,602) 2,092,440) 197,931 870,408 1,068,339
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - - - - (260,272) (260,272) (639) (260,911)
Other comprehensive (expense) £ Eft 2
income for the year (RWA - - - (12,619) - 3 - (12,616) - (12,616)
Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - (12,619) - 3 (260,272 (272,888) (639) (273,521)
As at 31 March 2019
14,642 1,119,294 1,152,862 (7,791) 347 (1,599 (2,362,712) (74,957) 869,769 794,812
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (211,117) (211,117) (11,345) 202,462)
Other comprehensive income ~~ EREfZERA
for the year - - - 11,931 - 1,601 - 13,632 - 13,632
Total comprehensive income \E &
for the year - - - 11,931 - 1,601 (211,117) (197,585) (11,345) (208,930)
Deemed early redemption of
convertible bonds AR - - (440,824) - - - 422,715 (18,109) - (18,109)
Modification of convertible bonds 15 2 7/ # - - (136,646) - - - 136,646 - - -
Change in ownership interestin 1%
subsidiaries upon disposal of
assoclate - - - - - - (99,722) (99,722) 99,722 -
As at 31 March 2020 RZZZ%E
=ZR=1-H 14,642 1,119,294 575,392 4140 347 2 (2,104,190) (390,373) 958,146 567,773
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Notes:

(@)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

The share premium account represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount allocated to
the equity component of convertible bonds issued by the Company
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible bonds in note 4(h)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) before distribution of the net profit each year, the Group’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC shall set aside 10% of its net profit
after taxation to the statutory reserve. The reserve can only be used, upon
approval by the board of directors of these PRC established subsidiaries
and by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase
capital. During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there was no
transfer from retained profits to the statutory reserve since the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries incurred net loss in those years.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/losses arising
on retranslating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

Other reserve represents share of other comprehensive income of
associates.

Remittance outside the PRC of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC is subject to approval of the local authorities and
the availability of foreign currencies generated and retained by these
subsidiaries.

A BREBR
For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-—Z-TE-A=t+—RAILEE
RO BERERERANCEBLEEZHKIE -
AMBRESEESEFEEESEIETAA
TR ES 2 EZIH 'ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁ
3R 2% BT 5E4(h)(iii) 7 AT #2 AR 1,\%%%9] 2 ATBUR
ﬁ@wu ©

BRPEARLMBE((HE D NBEBREERE
MR - BESIOFFEA - ERERIW
AREMBARADERBFNEHELI0%E
EE R e imﬁﬁ@TﬁFﬁ%%#%%
HBE WASHUFEETRRIZMBR

ﬂZ%%A&ﬁ%ﬁﬁm%%ﬁéﬁTﬁ%°
REE-Z-_TER-_T-AF=A=+—H
LFE- EK$EEZ¢IME AN ZEF
EHSSBIEFE KU BEEASELRE
w M BB ERERE -

SRR EIER BN EB CEE BEFE
BERBERENEMEEZ RS BE -

Y EL Y VNSRS e

R BRI 2 M B AR 2R B R 2 5% S Bk
TR EE B0 T E RS L I B A A RE
BEERRBZINEREI -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

—AN =B
=] Eﬁﬁ/}lbi%
As at 31 March 2020
R-E-_TF=F=1+—H

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Impairment loss on interest in
an associate

Gain on modification of convertible
bonds

Deemed early redemption of
convertible bonds

Change in fair value of investments in
convertible bonds

Fair value loss on financial assets
held-for-trading

Share of results of associates

Imputed interest income from loan
to a subsidiary of the associate

Interest income from banks

Interest income from rental deposit

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of financial
assets held-for-trading

Effective interest expense on
convertible bonds

Imputed interest expense on loan
from a non-controlling interest

Imputed interest expense on
loan from the subsidiary
of an associate

Interest on lease liabilities

Allowance of doubtful debts

Reversal of allowance for doubtful
debts

Loss on disposal of an associate

2020 2019
—EZEF =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
RETH
Al 18 (222,462) (260,911)
A
mE - BELKETE
60 67
CHAREENE 1,184 -
REtE NBI R Z
VRN, SR - 33,190
CR GRS Sl &
27,749 -
RIERBEEBERTRRKRES
(5,973) —
MR ESREEZ
N EES 19 22,132 56,485
RH5EEMEEZ
N¥EEE - 18,124
DIhEEE ARIER (6,312) (13,326)
REBERNR 2B
NAERZHEF BERA - (1,787)
3R 17 B U A 6 (205)
HEZSZ2FBHKA 15 —
HPESGUEEMEEZ
B8 % 8 - 17,465
MR ESERFE
&2 30 146,367 129,142
KEFEREZERZ
HEFEHAL 9 - 2,424
JE U Bt 2 R A) 2 BT B
RNABERZHEFE
53 9 556 127
HEAEHNE 116 —
REREE 232 165
7 B R AR B
- (442)
HE—EBE R 2 EIR 5,266 —
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
,T\ fﬁimui%

As at 31 March 2020
RZEBE-EF=A=+—H

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Operating cash out flows before =B ﬁ SEFE 2
changes in working capital KEIR W (31,064) (19,482)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 & U Bk 7R 2 (18 hn) 5,336 (8,650)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, T FIE 24 M
deposits and other receivables H i pE U kI8 L (B n) 2,604 (3,211)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables & 5 & BR Z Ot 4) /18 41 (10,961) 10,803
Decrease in accruals and EEtER R EAMEN
other payables RIE R D (2,134) (1,575)
Decrease in amount due from the JE W Bk & AR 2
subsidiary of an associate B8~ B FRIE R A - 12,397
Decrease in amount due to JE < JE 152 IR 4 21 SR 1B
non-controlling interests R - (19,779)
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to J& {< B & A &) 2 M} B A &
the subsidiary of an associate FIECR D) /8 m (5) 5
NET CASH USED IN RETHFACRSEE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (36,224) (29,492)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE
Interest received from banks EUIRTTH B (21) 205
Proceed on disposal of financial HEXSEESMEEZ
assets held-for trading TS & 18 - 10,658
Proceed from disposal of an oS B ”A Az
associate FTi8 3K 18 50,000 —

NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETEFMEBZEESTFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 49,979 10,863
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meERERER

As at 31 March 2020
RZE-EF=-A=1+—H

2020 2019
=t L ¥
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEETH
Interest expenses paid to an associate it A] #2 I (& % O 1+ B &
on convertible bonds NAEZHERX 30 - (25,025)
Repayment of loan from a BERRER
shareholder (25,000) —
Proceeds from loans from a ERRERFABRIE
shareholder 7,000 25,000
Proceeds from loan from BIEZERERER
a non-controlling interest Fr 5 3k 18 - 10,582
Proceeds from loan from an associate 5 ‘& AT E R 15 1E 9,800 4,900
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEARRZEMNFE (116) —
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAE (1,162) —
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED @& EE (FiH) iz
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEeFHE (9,478) 15,457
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HERBEEEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®m R FE 4,277 (8,172)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S B¢ REESEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 17,058 20,227
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE /¥ EXRES§HITE
RATE CHANGES 1,601 3
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FXB&RBESZEY -
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and BRTEHRKEER S
cash 22,936 17,058
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1.

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. On 1 March 2013, the Company has
been deregistered in the Cayman Islands and continued
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
under the laws of Bermuda. The Company’s shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of business
in Hong Kong is situated at Unit No. 2111, 21/F, West
Tower Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the
company referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”)
New and amended HKFRSs adopted by the

Group

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

HKFRS 16

B S R AR E165%

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

BEEEBEBRTBRERE
ZE®)— REF28%

Leases
HE

(i)

e PR HRRME

—RER
EMBELAEMBIFEAERAT (AR
ADBREREHERAFERNHASHS
AR BEREBEREMEAR o B
—E—Z=ZFZA—8  ARFEHE®
HAESHE 2 WRIERRE
EOIANERREBREERA ZER
REREFE - ARRIRHNE BB
ARGIERAR (BT ER L
™ o EH 5Tl 9% F EE 4 A& Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda - EB B F B &2
o BEAL A BB IR T A8 B 168-200
FAEEPROLAEAE2IMNME -

ARA/—EREZERAT - AN B
RAERARABAIAEE])ZE
REBHNGA I ®ERME36 -

EREEMBE®RE ER
TEEMBHREER ]

AEBRMZHAIREEBTE
78 Bt 3% R o %2

EEEHDAE (FERHDAR)
EEMSENAREARH BHER
A W AT BB A AT BB B B W
A

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

PIT A5 15 T 765 B 3 B 1S B OE 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9
BB HRELERIFIN 21EF]
Amendments to HKAS 19
BB ERE195 2BF]
Amendments to HKAS 28

BAE G ERF28R 2B
Amendments to HKFRSs
BB HREER 2 BT

Except as described below, the application of the other

Prepayment Features and Negative Compensation
REEREEREME

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

FTEER] - R ER

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
REBERRIREEPEZRPER

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
EEMBRELN S -—AFE_ T+ FHEHPNFELE

BRI XRTE SN MAEE E A EAM

new revised HKFRSs and amendment to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statement.

Ml BEMBREEAREETE
BRI EERY EH AN EENAE
B R @EFEZMBRE IR R
SRREGRMBRRABRESE
RERTE -

2020 3 EMBERAEYREEMRAT 63



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RE BT RARMIFE

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” has
been summarised below.

(i)

64

()

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in accounting
treatment for lease accounting, primarily for
accounting for lessees. It replaces HKAS 17 “Leases”
("HKAS 177), HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC)-Int
15 “Operating Leases Incentives” and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease”. From a lessee’s
perspective, almost all leases are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as a
right-of-use assets and a lease liabilities, with the
narrow exception to this principle for leases which the
underlying assets are of low-value or are determined
as short-term leases. From a lessor’s perspective,
the accounting treatment is substantially unchanged
from HKAS 17. For details of HKFRS 16 regarding its
new definition of a lease, its impact on the Group’s
accounting policies and the transition method
adopted by the Group as allowed under HKFRS 16,
please refer to section (i) to (iv) of this note.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the
cumulative effect approach and recognised all the
cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
loss at the date of initial application. The comparative
information presented in 2020 has not been restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 17 and
related interpretations as allowed by the transition
provision in HKFRS 16.

2.

(i)
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FEREEBUK RS EAR
(BB REED e

AEERMZHITIRLETS
BB EER )
EAMBREERF165 — HE
RWEBYBEREENFE1655[HE
ENT X -

()  FHRWEE R EERF16%5
CEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BTG R T

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. EAE &8 & HEER

(i)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS TEBUHHREER D
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the (i) "EEXRAZHITIRKEBISE
Group (Continued) /% ,E\ji% *ﬁ %: i/;E—/EIJL
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued) Elﬁﬁﬂ%‘liﬁ%/ﬁﬂl %16’3’E - *ﬂg
(%)
() Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) () FRWEER IR EERFE165%
LR E )
The following table summarises the impact of TREABEEEEUBRE
transition to HKFRS 16 on consolidated statement R EI6HEHBE_T—NEF=
of financial position as of 31 March 2019 to that of 1 A=+—BZ=_Z—hFWmA—
April 2019 as follows: HOWEGEMBRAERNZE:
HK’'000
FEx
Right of use assets FHEEE

Closing balance under HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 R_E—-NF=ZRA=+—-RABEAG:
BABITRIETHARGE -

— Recognition of additional right-of-use assets under - BEEAVBREEUE6FER
HKFRS 16 BEOREREEE 419
Opening balance under HKFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFEA-ARBEERBERE
ﬁu £165% 18 T #) B ¥ 4 £4 419
HK’000
FAL
Lease liabilities HESE

Closing balance under HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=RA=+—-HE#HE:f
EAETRBETORARLE -

— Recognition of additional lease liabilities under - BEEAVBREEUE6RER
HKFRS 16 BINBERE 411

Opening balance under HKFRS 16 as at 1 April 2019 RIE-NENA—BREBTERE
LR E165E T H B 411
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(i)

66

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2.
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The following reconciliation explains how the
operating lease commitments disclosed applying
HKAS 17 as at 31 March 2019 could be reconciled
to the lease liabilities at the date of initial application
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 April 2019:

EREBME R
(TEBMBREER e

I
'I'ﬁ
" m

(i) XEERXRHKz2HITRLETTH
BB REER )
?%ﬂﬂ%i&%ﬁﬂﬂ%m% - e

(/) R E B T EZERE16%
ZEEE )
UTHEEREIR_ZE—NF=A
“t+—HEREAESEANE
17THREBEENLCEHEAERR
TE-NFUNA-—HESEVE
Hﬁ}Ri%T:EWE’JEA%JJ*H*ﬁHElHH

ZHERABNERIS

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments to lease ~ KA EAEEREAENHE
liabilities
Operating lease commitments as of 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=R=1+—0H
4% AT B ?f‘ 1,252

Less: short-term leases for which lease terms end within -~ 3l : BHIR T -SF=A=+—HRK

31 March 2020 SE7EHRE (820)
Less: future interest expenses o RRFERY (21)
Total lease liabilities as of 1 April 2019 RZE-NFNA-BMHEEREESE 411
The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing RZZE—-NFHOA—BEGZETBHER

rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1

April 2019 is 6.33%.

NERERANEECGETAAMNETF
HAEMEANEEERFEE6.33% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

(i)

(i)

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use
an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. A contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time when the customer, throughout
the period of use, has both: (a) the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of
the identified asset and (b) the right to direct the use
of the identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, a lessee shall allocate the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative standalone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, unless the lessee applies
the practical expedient which allows the lessee to
elect, by class of underlying asset, not to separate
non-lease components from lease components, and
instead account for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounted for all each
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.
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(i)

68

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2.

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the (i)

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

(i)  Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease as an
operating lease or a finance lease based on the extent
to which risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of a leased asset lie with the lessor or the lessee.
If a lease is determined as an operating lease, the
lessee would recognise the lease payments under the
operating lease as an expense over the lease term.
The asset under the lease would not be recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the
lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of they are
operating leases or finance leases) are required to
be capitalised in the statement of financial position
as rightof-use assets and lease liabilities, but
HKFRS 16 provides accounting policy choices for
an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low value. The Group
has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets (the Group
has leased mobile phones, laptop computers and
photocopying machines) and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability at the commencement date of a lease.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

I
'I'ﬁ
Cm

EREBME R
(TEBMBREER e

EEEFERAZHITREETE

8 B 3 R 5 2E A )

ERAMBHREERNE16T — HE

(#)

(i) 1EBEFEN B S5 E
RIBEB SR ERIE175 - &
ANEBRBEHEEERBEREMN
B % & Bl 2 A2 A sk A
MEREEEEEE EAKE
HEgmEHE -WHEERT
RIKCEHE v%mA%Fﬂ\
%W%WLE S IB T EER
H’Aﬁﬁuuj\%gﬂi %ﬂ IETE’]/Q
EfTEREBRANGETHK
AR R AR o

*E?E%; ﬁﬁ%*&m—'—/J 16’5):'
FIBEMHE(ThRAKEHE LR
BHE)BARMBRRAKRERE
REAEEELHEHERE &
BEMBRELNFI6KAER
RHESHHREREE AJREED
BB RE A ENEE K5
HEEERKEBEENHEEETT
B - REBEEEZTREE
BEEREBECHEFH - F
REMRFZEE) ARRHBAB
HHEEHRLRAREANEE EE
REAEEERHEERE -
ZEHERBONEENK Eﬂ
HMEBHRNZERESHE -

AEBREEMIGBRERRE
REEENEBERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF HONG KONG

(i)

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continuead)

(iif)  Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. Except
for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property or a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the Group applies the revaluation
model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the
Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
For right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, they are carried at fair value and
for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of a
leasehold land and buildings held for own use, they
are carried at cost.

Leasehold land and buildings that were held for rental
or capital appreciation purpose would continue to be
accounted for under HKAS 40 and would be carried
at fair value. For leasehold land and buildings which
is held for own use would continue to be accounted
for under HKAS 16 and would be carried at cost. The
adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore does not have any
significant impact on these right-of-use assets. Other
than the above right-of-use assets, the Group also
has leased a number of properties under tenancy
agreements which the Group exercises its judgement
and determines that these are buildings leased for
own use carried at cost. As a result, the right-of-
use asset arising from the properties under tenancy
agreements are carried at depreciated cost.
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70

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. ER&E B BB &®

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continuead)

(i) Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date; (iii) amounts expected
to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee
shall measure the lease liability by: (i) increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and; (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change
in the lease term, a change in the in substance
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continuead)

(iv)  Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied HKFRS
16 using the cumulative effect approach and
recognised all the cumulative effect of initially applying
HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening balance
of accumulated losses at the date of initial application
(1 April 2019). The comparative information presented
in 2019 has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations
as allowed by the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at the
date of 1 April 2019 for leases previously classified
as operating leases applying HKAS 17 and measured
those lease liabilities at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as at 1 April 2019.

The Group has elected to recognise all the right-
of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 for leases
previously classified operating leases under HKAS
17 as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of
initial application. For all these right-of-use assets,
the Group has applied HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets” as at 1 April 2019 to assess if there was any
impairment as on that date.
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(i)

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs adopted by the

Group (Continued)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continuead)

(iv)

Transition (Continued)

The Group has also applied the follow practical
expedients: (i) applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics; (i) applied the exemption of not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with term that will end within 12 months
of the date of initial application (1 April 2019) and
accounted for those leases as shortterm leases; (iii)
exclude the initial direct costs from the measurement
of the right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019 and (iv)
used hindsight in determining the lease terms if the
contracts contain options to extend or terminate the
leases.

In addition, the Group has also applied the practical
expedients such that: (i) HKFRS 16 is applied to all
of the Group’s lease contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease”; and (i) not to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a
lease under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.

(ii) New and amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but not yet effective

The following new/amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become effective.
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(ii)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARa SRR

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG 2. EREEBHBEHREEL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but not yet effective (continueq)

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB R EEREIFRISFT A
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
EBESHERBIREREESE

(TE 2 M %8|

(i) B 54518 1 5k 4 R 9 3T R4S
15 5T B 3% 81 96 3R 45 2 B o)

S8 )

Definition of a Business'
EBHER
Definition of Material?

EDN:IE L

AR FE8RIEFT A
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
BAAMBMELRBON - T8 G £

EIOFE LB BWEME LB F7HREFT A

HKFRS 17
BB R EERIFE179
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

R A #)°

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?2
IEES N &
Insurance Contracts?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

BRAMBHREEAF105 R REEFRHEBERNAHAEED

BB ERFE28HRIEEFT A
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB EERF165EFT A

N

T Effective for business combinations and assets acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

4 The amendments were originally intended to be effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2018. The effective date has now been
deferred/removed. Early application of the amendments continues to
be permitted.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of

a business

The amendments clarify that a business must include, as a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs,
together with providing extensive guidance on what is
meant by a “substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce
outputs, whilst narrowing the definition of “outputs” and
a “business” to focus on returns from selling goods and
services to customers, rather than on cost reductions.
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74

APPLICATION OF HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)
New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but not yet effective (continued)

An optional concentration test has also been added that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition
of material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation
of “material”, aligning the definition across all HKFRS
Standards and the Conceptual Framework, and
incorporating supporting requirements in HKAS 1 into the
definition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
— Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting
requirements to provide relief from potential effects of
the uncertainties caused by interest rate benchmark
reform. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about their
hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties.

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 will replace HKFRS 4 as a single principle-based
standard for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of insurance contracts in the consolidated
financial statements of the issuers of those contracts.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or
associate.

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
new pronouncements will result in substantial changes to
the Group’s accounting policies and consolidated financial
statements.

(ii)
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”), accounting principle generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rule Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rule”).

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has net current liabilities
of approximately HK$28,354,000. These conditions
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and therefore the Group may be unable
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis on the assumption that the Group will
be able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due within
the next year from the date of the consolidated financial
statements, after taking into consideration of the following
measures and arrangements made subsequent to the
reporting date:

()  The Company obtained a confirmation from the
Group’s former associate confirm that shall not
demand for repayment of the amount of approximately
HK$41,947,000 as at 31 March 2020 for a period of at
least 12 months from 29 June 2020.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Statement of compliance (continuea)

(i)  The Company obtain the financial support of the
substantial shareholder and confirm in written that
agreed to provide the Company with sufficient
financial support to enable the Company to meet its
obligations to third parties as and when they fall due
and to continue as a going concern.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
payment”, leasing transactions that are amounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS
17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories”
or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets”.

(a)

(b)
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(b)

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Basis of measurement (continueq)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"), which is the same as the presentation
currency of the consolidated financial statements.

(b)

(c)
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4.

(a)

(b)

78

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured entity)
over which the Group is able to exercise control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and
the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.

4.

(a)

(b)
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred unless
they are incurred on issuing equity instruments, in which
case the costs are deducted from equity.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised
gains or losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-
company transactions that are recognised in assets are
also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position disclosed
in the note 36 to these consolidated financial statements,
the investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

4.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value
of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
polices. Investments in an associate are accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements by the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s interests in associates include
goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

4.
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(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, and its share of the post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “share of results of associates” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Gains and losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

4.

(c)

ARa SRR

BEAXAEFHEe

BeENT )

AEERGO—HBEAFWEENE
ERGgctEakEMmEEBERR
MR i L U B 18 Efh 2 T S Y
FHAREMEE W SRR - B
AR E 2 BREE - tNAREEEL
—MBE AR ZEBEESER BB/ E
EZBE AR 2R - BEEAEM
RIEFRYGRIE - BRIEAEBBENRZ
B NRAEERE S ETENET S
EERZH  REBETEERE—TE

18 o

AEERBEGRESANEEREA
EBIBERARBE AR ZRED
BAE - IR E T RIE - AR EFER
BB E AR AT KD SRR E
HEFEEENEZRE  IRGEeEaRE
fio 2 U & R A FE R R BRI [ 15

TYSETIER

AREBE AR ENE 2 FEE LM
W 32 55 1) M) A 5 18 T 7R 5% [ B B
BHRKRER - BERNEREREE
REERRIEANTHE - RIEXFHIR
HEBBRIAERCEECHE " &
AIRBEHEBEITTALE - BE QT
MEABRERFTRIEHNE - A
REREERBOBERNTE -

PR B & X ] O B A 5 B R A B 1R R
FEEGEMNEMEMKRERER -

2020 3 EMBEREYREERAT 81



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRa SRR M

4.

(d)

(e)
(i)

(i)

82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the board of directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’ s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI") are analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the
financial asset and other changes in the carrying amount
of the financial asset. Translation differences related to
changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss,
and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in
equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equity investments held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit on loss as
part of the fair value gains or losses. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities
investments classified as financial asset at FVTOCI are
included in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group entities

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each reporting period
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end
of the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income presented are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate at the date of that transaction.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost or revalued amounts
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

3-10 years
3-8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income and gains in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible asset which represents an in-process research
and development project (“In-process R&D”) involving an
oral insulin product (the “Product”). The In-process R&D is
not amortised as it is not yet available for use.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and
development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised
if it can be demonstrated that:

° it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to
be sold;

° adequate resources are available to complete the
development;

° there is an intention to complete and sell the product;
o the Group is able to sell the product;

° sale of the product will generate future economic
benefits; and expenditure on the project can be
measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over
the periods the Group expects to benefit from selling
the products developed. The amortisation expense is
recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of sales.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Intangible assets (continuea)

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria
and expenditure on the research phase of internal projects
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(i)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivables without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. Trade receivables without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets (Continuea)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Debt investments at
FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate method,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be
classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at FVTPL on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at
FVOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on loans and accounts receivables, other
receivables, deposit paid, financial asset measured at
amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.
The ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continuead)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
loans and accounts receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, and the liability component of
convertible bonds issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Convertible bonds containing liability and equity
components, and early redemption option, if applicable
Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
liability (together with the early redemption option which is
closely related to the host liability component, if applicable)
and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition of convertible bonds issued by
the Company, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the convertible
bonds into equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Convertible bonds containing liability and equity components,
and early redemption option, if applicable (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible bonds equity reserve until the embedded
option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in
convertible bonds equity reserve will be transferred to
share premium). Where the option remains unexercised
at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be released to the accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continuea)

Derecognition (Continued)

When the contractual terms of financial liability are modified
such that the revised terms would result in a substantial
modification from the original terms after considering
qualitative factors (e.g. modifications of convertible
instruments). When the contractual terms of a convertible
instrument are modified, the revised terms would result
in a substantial modification from the original terms, after
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors, such modification is accounted
for as derecognition of the original financial liability and the
recognition of new financial liability. The difference between
the carrying amount of financial liability derecognised and
the fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

o property, plant and equipment;
° intangible assets; and

o investments in subsidiaries and interests in associates
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of assets (other than financial

assetS)(Conﬁnued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or loss.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities/continuea)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fee paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
drawdown occurs. To the extent there is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
loss. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Taxation (continuea)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Retirement benefit costs and termination

benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in
the year when the employees render the related service.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straightline basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the
definition of an investment property or a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the Group applies the
revaluation model, the Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

4.

(a)

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

BEXEFHEe

HE
HE(B-ZE-NFHA-HEER
Z 8 EE)

Fﬁﬁﬁ = (TmaRkeHExmEN

E)ARUBMRRAKRER L KA
éf?&i‘ﬁ BfE - HRASTBEE
&/Ln%gﬁfﬁ*ﬁq‘ﬂﬁ()%%L/ﬂﬂifﬂ

& K5 (i) $EE§§FZ%1E_§ETEE'J
?EEL(T§$TE°$%E%ET\WL
REBEEEEARRAKBEHEES
LR12E AMEE Eﬁuu{ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ
HEBBE HEzZZHEHRBNEE
NREREEHRRNREREXHE -

1 HEEE
FREEETRKAERL B :
HWHEBBEZYIPAE2B(ETX
ERHEABARZEFHE) (i)
EAF%!I‘*EIHH_}ZZHI{’E&Z&HTH Z 1

OB E UWER 2 B EEE ¢ (iii) &M
/\%EZEH—WH:EB(W$ R (iv)
MACEHEBRRREHEREZEBER
THBREBREBEERBEE 2G
A MREKRATEAEERFEM
EEEBRIN - BREE ?xéf%%‘k%
¥ BEMZEEEEFILE
REGEIEEZFERREEEN
AEBEAKARAGESFEAES
B o BRI AER - REEIZ K AR
EEM R E RTAREE B
EFAEEE UHHEEAGZEM
BT EFEHARE -



(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (continueq)

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 April
2019) (continuea)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (i) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date; (iiij amounts expected to
be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in
future lease payments arising from change in an index
or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in
substance fixed lease payments or a change in assessment
to purchase the underlying asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (continueq)

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31
March 2019)

(a)

100

()

(i)

Operating leases (As a lessee)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets
are accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement of the lease term, a finance lease is
capitalised at the lower of the fair value of the leased
asset and the present value of the minimum lease
payments, each determined at the inception of the
lease term.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included
in the statement of financial position as finance
lease payable. Lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated
to each period during the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the same
as owned assets over the shorter of the lease term
and their estimated useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group‘s and the Company’s
financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of the parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties (continuea)
(Continued)

102

(b)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
reporting entity.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)

(if)

(i)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

4, EXREFHBEw

(s)

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

BAE 7 (@)

(0)

(#)
v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ZBANTZEER

i

>3d
fk T
=
\;
l
i

ol
fiE fe
\o

=

\;
l
| R

3
N

N
|

ERy
=113
Ny

5 o 3f 3
R
S

&

=

e
S3qd
Dff
it
i

\;
!

H OfF
\
!

N

I
ot =
° H @ 24 mo of

B R 2

St o3 B > o i
| Zm B m

pu

KA

2 (@) PIT 38 Bl A £ 12 6
() 4% i

F XK

o

\|
/l

TR ATHE
j( /é&j}j@%uxg
T E’J!“T)I

=
H%a

Hel B BB
il

I'ﬁ iy
>t'<1r

)l]]]n

ZERIEMBEER 2 F
(G B= NI |‘1$El‘k
REBZEARRHEE
EHEABRS °

FERK B =15

ZATEREERZE - AN
ARERXZALTTENRE

Jﬁ%ﬁ

HP @

FZALTZFREEBHK
FERK B

ZAANTEBHFKEKE
ZFE R

ATz ATEEEHK



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 5.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Significant influence over Longmark (Shanghai)
HealthCare Limited (“Longmark (Shanghai)”)

Note 18 describes that Longmark (Shanghai) is an
associate of the Group, the Group held from 50.02%
to 49.78% ownership interest in Longmark (Shanghai).
Pursuant to the changes of memorandum and articles of
associations of Longmark (Shanghai) on 29 November
2013, East Longmark (Shanghai) HealthCare Limited (&
ER(EBREEERKBERAT) (“East Longmark”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, can only appoint
one out of the three directors in the board of directors of
Longmark (Shanghai) and all the shareholders and board
of directors’ resolutions of Longmark (Shanghai) require
51% votes to pass. The directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group lost control over Longmark
(Shanghai) as a result of these changes effected on 29
November 2013 and only has significant influence over
Longmark (Shanghai) by virtue of the contractual right
to appoint one out of the three directors in the board of
directors of Longmark (Shanghai) and its voting powers/
rights in shareholders’ and directors’ meetings in which all
shareholders and board of directors’ resolutions require
51% votes to pass.
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5.

104

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Significant influence over Extrawell

Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (“Extrawell”) is
a company of which shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

Note 18 describes that Extrawell is an associate of the
Group although the Group only owns 19.14% ownership
interest in Extrawell. The Group has significant influence
over Extrawell by virtue of the potential voting right upon
full exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the
convertible bonds of that company.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
U N C E RTA' NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continueq)
Loss allowance for trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade and
other receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires
the use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the end of reporting period. Where
the estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period
in which such estimate is changed. The Group keeps
assessing the expected credit loss of trade and other
receivables during their expected lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Fair value of investments in convertible bonds

The fair values of convertible bonds invested by the Group
are calculated using valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques are certified by an independent qualified valuer
before being implemented for valuation and are calibrated
to ensure that outputs reflect market conditions. Valuation
models established by the valuer make the maximum
use of market inputs and rely as little as possible on the
Group’s specific data. The model involves estimates on
time to expiration, risk free rate, share price, share price
volatility, discount rates and others. As at 31 March 2019,
the carrying amount of convertible bonds invested by the
Group is HK$111,942,000.

Should any of the estimates be revised, it may lead to
a material change to the fair value of the investments in
convertible bonds.

Impairment of intangible asset

The Group performs annual tests of impairment on
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and
development project involving an oral insulin product (the
"Product") (the "In-process R&D") involving the Product
which are not yet available for use. Accordingly, the
intangible assets relating to the Product with the carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,373,224,000 as at 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$1,373,224,000) was tested for impairment.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are
determined based on fair value calculations, which is
highly dependent upon further research and development
work required to be carried out, results of the clinical
trials, the successful launching of the Product and the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections. Details of the calculation of fair
value are disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements. These calculations require the use of estimates
and assumptions made by management on the future
operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the fair value calculations. In
addition, the management is of the opinion that the Group
would be successful in obtaining the regulatory approvals
from the relevant government bodies and launching
the Product in fourth quarter of 2022 in the absence of
unforeseeable circumstance. The management also based
on the assumption that the Group would continue to have
the exclusive right for commercialisation of the Product.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

U N C E RTAI NTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continuea)
Impairment of intangible asset (Continued)

Should the actual outcome of the clinical trials and the
launching of the Product be unsuccessful, the likelihood
and timing in obtaining the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies to launch the product to be
unrealised, or the key assumptions applied in preparing
the cash flow projections from the Product in assessing
impairment, including the discount rates or growth rate
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections on the In-
process R&D is different from the original estimates, such
difference could materially affect the carrying value of the
intangible assets. It will consequently have an adverse
effect on the net assets and the results of the Group.

Going concern consideration

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
apart from those involving estimations, management
has prepared the consolidated financial statements on
the assumption that the Group will be able to operate
as a going concern in the coming year, which is a
critical judgement that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in the lease, and therefore, uses its incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR, therefore, reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts
received and receivable for goods sold or services
rendered by the Group to outside customers, less
discounts and related taxes for the year, is analysed as
follows:

Sales of beauty products in Hong Kong

REBHEXRTEM

AR BTG R T

W 2=
FARBREREAEBRINREFE
ﬁﬁuui?mfﬂﬂﬁfiza”&&@”&%\
B2 RAFE - ENBRFEAZITNRE
BARIE - 2T

2020 2019
HK$'000
THETT

HK$ 000
TR

and recognised at a point in time W —FEEER 14,580 18,589
For sales of beauty products revenue is recognised when MEEEXDEMMS @ WS R EmAY
control of goods has transferred to the customer, being rhHlgEEREsEFRAIEaRNTE

at the point the goods are delivered to the customer. The
normal credit term is 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group has three (2019: three) reportable and operating
segments as follows:

(@) trading of beauty products in Hong Kong (“Trading of
beauty products”)

(b) funds/securities investment in Hong Kong and outside
Hong Kong (“Securities investment”)

(c) research, development and commercialisation of the
oral insulin product (“Research and development”)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments are
strategic business units that offer different products and
services. They are managed separately because each
business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

FPREIMNEREHER —REEHR
ZAS1&90H -

o B R &
AEERAT= @ (ZF—NF : =)
EHRLEEDE:
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iR e MR M

7. SEGMENT REPORTING covmuen) 7. DEERE 0
Segment revenues and results THMERES
The accounting policies of the operating segments are BB D E g ET R E ARG BT R
the same as those described in the consolidated financial KFTALEMER o 280 (E58),mFiE
statements. Segment (loss)/profit represents the loss £ 3 8% ) EE REEMPEST REM
incurred by or profit earned from each segment without WA - WERBEFEIBELT &
allocation of corporate and other expenses and other DEEEZEBIBN G 9
income, gains and losses, net. All assets are allocated BEFMBEEE T » &I & qu&Jt%
to segments other than corporate assets, interests in BE  REEAR#ER —Hﬁ‘ﬂxﬁ
associates, investments in convertible bonds, amount due HRE - Kﬂiﬂﬁﬁéﬁjzﬂﬁﬂ% GBS
from the subsidiary of an associate and bank balances and I8 - R1T7/ iﬁ%éﬁifﬁﬁ MO EMBEE
cash. All liabilities are allocated to segments other than Tijz’\* Eﬂ&ﬁ%%ﬂi P&
corporate liabilities, amounts due to a former associate, ey /“T 3H PR #E 2 N AT 3E #2
a non-controlling interest and former non-controlling Hﬂ& SZHIE - RE—UEERRE -
interests, loan from a substantial shareholder, a former AIEEE N RIEIERESER - UK
associate and a non-controlling interest and convertible T@foﬁ% °
bonds.
Trading of beauty
equipment Securities Research and
and products investment development
ZARERERES RERE e
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
24 : T T -
HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSI00O
TER TER TR THL TR TaT
(Restated)
(&)
Revenue from external customers RENBEEZ MG 14,580 18,589 - - - - 14,580 18,589
Segment profit/{loss) AEEFH/(BR) 1,385 1,747 - (35,600) (14,375) (3577) (12,990) (37,430)
Additional disclosures for operating ~ 2EAHz BN BEFE:
segments:
Unallocated other income, gains and A2 B EMMA » iz
losses, net hEEEE (27,042) 9,651
Interest expenses on convertible MARESFNFERR
bonds (146,367)  (129,142)
Corporate and other expenses PEREIMAY (20,243) (27,641)
Change in fair value of investment in —Wﬂﬁ/i%? 2
convertible bonds 28 (2213) (56,485
Share of results of associates 15 555 ‘a‘ INGES | 6,312 13,326
Impairment loss on interest in REERTERZABER
an associate - (33,190)
Loss before income tax RAERAER (222,462)  (260911)
Income tax expense FEHRER - -
Loss for the year FRER (222,462) (260,911)
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AR BTG R T

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) 7. 7HBE»
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAE
Trading of beauty
equipment Securities Research and
and products investment development
EARERERES BERE &
2020 2019
S 33 = -NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT TR FHL TER ThER ThT
Assets £E
Segment assets NHEE 24,536 30,297 - - 1,380,876 1,375,894 1,405,412 1,406,191
Investments in convertible bonds TRRERRE - 111,042
Interests in associates REZNANER - 48,954
Corporate and other assets rEREMEE 13,466 11,667
Total assets EEEH 1,418,878 1578754
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities AHER 10,245 21,206 - - 15,840 5,180 26,085 26,386
Convertible bonds MRk ES 743,142 658,632
Corporate and other liabllities CEEEMAR 81,878 98,924
Total liabilities BEEE 851,105 783,942
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fRa SRR M

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (continueq) 7.

Geographical information

The principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information disclosures
under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong Kong as its
country of domicile. Over 90% of the Group’s external
customers and non-current assets are located in Hong
Kong.

/'\:\‘ngﬁ = (&)

ih B & R
AEBZEBEEMREE - BB
BEBMBHREEAESRIELN D
HEHBEEMS  AEBREBRE
Bt o REBEBBIOBMINTEF K
EMBEEMNES ©

Information about major customers RRXREFEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year $HE§¢F§E%E;@§%HQE1O%E)EZ
contributing over 10% of the total revenue are as follows: W
2020 2019
=t L ¥ —T—hf
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAET
Customer A =P H 14,580 18,589
Revenue from the above customer in the respective FAREFPREREHEAE RS

reporting period is derived from the segment of trading of
beauty equipment and products.
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AR BTG R T

8. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 8.
LOSSES, NET

Ht W A E Ath Uy 35 K% S
B R

2020 2019
—E-BHF —NF
HK$ 000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Other income H A
Interest income from banks IRITH B UL A 6 205
Interest income from rental deposit HEZEMEKA 15 —
Sundry income I H&UK 9 —
Imputed interest income from loanto K EFIEE & RFIE R 2
a former associate hE ﬂ B A - 1,787
30 1,992
Other gains and losses, net Hgiloam KEIE - FEE
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 & W Bk 78 2 I8 (B /&5 18 (232) 276
Gain on early repayment of loanto a (R AIEERI S A5 X
former associate 2 W w - 7,383
Change in fair value of investments in  AI# R EHFEE 2
convertible bonds NEFEEZD (22,132) (56,485)
Fair value loss on financial assets THMEEMEEL
held-for-trading N EEIE - (18,124)
Impairment loss on interest in an KRB ERBER 2
associate B &S 18 - (33,190)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HEXZEEMEE 2
held-for-trading &1 — (17,465
Loss on disposals of an associate HEBE AR 2 EE (5,266) —
Loss on modification of convertible BEIAIRKRESCEE
bonds (27,749) —
Gain on deemed early redemption of 18 £ 2 5 & [0] 7] #2 % (& 5
convertible bonds Uz 5,973 —
(49,406) (117,605)

FINANCE COSTS

9.

MBEBER

2020
—E-EHF
HK$ 000
FHET
Effective interest expense on convertible AJ# A% &% 2 B F B
bonds 146,367 129,142
Imputed interest expense on loan froma KERBEE AR ERZ
former associate HEMNBFHX 556 127
Imputed interest expense on loan froma REJFIEBRIESZER 2
non-controlling interests mMEN SR - 2,424
Interest on lease liability HEABEZFE 116 —
147,039 131,693
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ERE TR EE
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREH B X
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council RZZE—-N\F=A=+—H: ' &BIL
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 FEERMB_T—LEFEHRBEUSE(E
(the “Bill”) which introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates TGP E R (RGIEZR]D) - &0
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and BRSIAFFHMARS - FEOAIBERR
was gazetted on the following day. “E-NE=ZAZ+N\BEEEKR
FE T NEBEEETHRTE -
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first BRBFEHMASG  cEREEELS
HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying group entity will be #) & 52,000,000 7T 5% F 5 A 8.25%
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000 will be BY B X B - iR 82,000,000 7T
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of corporations not qualifying B9 )i A 5 LA16.5% ) B R L o T FF
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to & M 1F B R AR B & 18 895 B 89 s A i
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. BIEIR16.5% M F — T RHH -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the BEARCEMSHETEEMERH
“EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT EDREEMETEABEGS - R E
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2019: MEBARZREAE25% (T —NF:
25%). 25%) ©
No Hong Kong Profits Tax and PRC income tax have been HRERARPEEE ZEBARR
made for the year as the group companies operating in REEIWEEEFMERTEF -
Hong Kong and the PRC did not generate any assessable ARFEEN EANEBENSH LR
profits for the year (2019: Nil). BAEH(CE—NE: &)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to FRMSEHASEEGEGER RHEAM
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of FHEBRERZBRAGHAEESER
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: m
2020 2019
g —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Loss before income tax BR P15 50 A &S 18 (222,462) (260,911)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate B P15 3 B %16.5%
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) (ZE-NF:16.5%)
FHEZHIE (36,706) (43,050)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEEERKLEZ
operating in other jurisdictions MBAR 2T TRME F & (427) (1,036)
Tax effect of expense not deductible BRRENAHR AT 2
for tax purpose HMBTE 14,614 17,843
Tax effect of income not taxable RRBETERR2BAZ
for tax purpose B e (991) (695)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised ABABRBEEBEL BT E 24,541 29,137
Tax effect of share of results of associates DIEBMERNREE L RBEE (1,041) (2,199)
Tax effect of dectible tempory differences not ¥ HE 32 A] 05l b5 = 58 2 F 7%
recognised w & 10 -
Income tax expense B3 FiF 2 - -
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FAEE
2020 2019
St 33 —B-NF

—

Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging the following:

FABBRIHGT %A
&ER

HK$’000
TR

HK$'000
THETT

Auditors’ remuneration % R0 Bl & 1,100 1,100
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERXRENE
equipment 60 67
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1,184 —
Expenses relating to short-term lease BHEEHHEERE 2 H X
payment 1,029 —
Rental expense for premises under KEHETZYEHRES TN
operating leases - 2,413
Cost of inventories recognised as an R AR 2T &K K
expense 12,960 16,842
Staff costs, exclusive of directors’ TeEREEMeERNZEL
emoluments X AN
Salaries, bonus and other benefits e A MK EHAEF 4,504 3,570
Retirement benefits scheme RIRTE A FT 8K
contributions 109 157
4,613 3,727
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iR e MR M

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The board of directors represents the senior management

114

of the Group.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2019:
nine) directors were as follows:

12.EEMWE
EFGRRAEEBRERE -

BENsERNE(CE-—NF: AA)
ExzMemT:

Retirement
CEIEES benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
Name of Directors fee benefits contributions Total
HeRk RIREF
Espg E=ne H 118 Al =t & it wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAT TAT TAET TET
Tang Rong B 60 488 - 548
Chen Weijun BRiEE 80 - - 80
Xiao Yan H 60 - - 60
Jiang Nian BF 60 202 - 262
Zhang Zhihong ®ES 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TR 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin 5B 3 &1 60 106 - 166
Gao Yuan Xing =R E 60 1,300 10 1,370
Huang He = - 650 18 668
Total for the year ended HE-_T-FTF
31 March 2020 =A=+—H
EEBEZBE 500 2,746 28 3,274
Tang Rong EE 60 488 - 548
Chen Weijun REE 80 - - 80
Xiao Yan H ik 60 - - 60
Jiang Nian BF 60 210 - 270
Zhang Zhihong REB 60 - - 60
Wang Rongliang TER 60 - - 60
Wu Yanmin SO B 60 92 — 152
Gao Yuan Xing =R & 60 1,300 18 1,378
Huang He =15 - 650 18 668
Total for the year ended HEZT-NF
31 March 2019 =A=+—H
IFE 7 B 500 2,740 36 3.276
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fRE SRR
12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continveq) 12.EE® €
No directors waived any emoluments in current and prior REAFRERENFE  MEEENE
year. < o
During current year and prior year, no emoluments were RAFEREAFEE  NEBIL &R
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join FRAEEZMNME  ERESIMAL
or upon joining the Group. IR & B 52 52/ -
13. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 13. EEME
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during FR AEBREERFATLE
the year included three (2019: three) directors whose —HR(CENFZR)EE KRS
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented ZHERERITHRE - E82W A
above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2019: two) (ZE2E—NEFE - MB)ATZHEEFHT
individuals are set out below: N
2020 2019
i —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Basic salaries and other benefits EXRgFHaREMEF 1,000 1,000
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & & & F 5+ & £ 3 36 36
1,036 1,036
The emoluments fell within the following band: Bl & N FLAT & -
Number of individuals
AE
2020 2019
—EB-FF —TNF
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001£1,500,0007% 7T 2 2
14. DIVIDEND 14. R &
The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend EEVTITEBRRBEEE_T_TF=
for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). A=+—HIFEZRB(ZZE—N
Fom)o
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A P RR M

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. 8RB E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RARHEBAELEER ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%)@ﬁ
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BIOEATEHEREEHE

116

following data:

Loss & 18

2020 2019

HK$ 000 HK$’000
TR T

Loss for the purposes of basic and METE iﬂxgﬂiﬁfiﬁfé
diluted loss per share (Loss for the EEzZEBEB(EA
year attributable to owners of the BEAEBLEFNAN J% #B)
Company) (211,117) (260,272)

Number of shares K1 EH

Weighted average number of ordinary FLarE &M E A K #5855
shares for the purpose of basic and i th B IR hn #E ST

diluted loss per share 1,464,193 1,464,193
For the year ended 31 March 2020, basic and diluted R ¥ F R E 18 £9211,117,00058 7T (=
loss per share was HK$0.1442 (2019: HK$0.1778), T — L 1 260,272,000 1) K £ XX
which is based on the loss for the year of approximately il RESRERAREEEE 2D
HK$211,117,000 (2019: HK$260,272,000) and the t BE-—T-TE-A=—+—AI
denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted FE - BREAREEEIEF01442
loss per share. BIL(ZZE—NF 017788 L) ©
No diluted loss per share has been presented as the RRITEARRAB BT 2 ARITE R
exercise of the outstanding convertible bonds issued by the fREHFBEHTREER D (B E
Company would result in a decrease in loss per share (i.e. H) MUY EZYESREEEE -
anti-dilutive).
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COST OR VALUATION

As at 1 April 2018, 31 March

2019, 1 April 2019 and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BTG R T

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B B
R-ZF-N\FHA—H -

—E-AF=A=t+—8"

16. ¥ %

Plant and
machinery

T 5 R 2R

HK$°000
TRT

-BERRE

Motor
vehicles

Total

AE B

HK$’000
TERT

HK$°000
TR

31 March 2020 “E-NEFEWA—BK
—E-TF=A=+—H 516 313 829

ACCUMULATED 2 MERRE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 April 2018 N-—ZE—)\FNA—H 354 313 667
Charge for the year FARAZH 67 - 67
As at 31 March 2019 and W-_Z—-hF=A=1+—8H

1 April 2019 RZZE-NFHA—H 421 313 734
Charge for the year FARZH 60 - 60
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZTF=F=+—H 481 313 794
CARRYING AMOUNTS IR &
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-ZEF=A=+—H 35 - 35
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=A=+—H 95 — 95
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

118

17. EHEEE

Leasehold
properties
HEWXE
RMB’000
AR T
Cost SRS
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NLEFEMNA—H 418
Additions NE 4,227
Exchange realignment bE 38 (32)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=ZHA=+—H 4,613
Accumulated depredation 25t E
As at 1 April 2019 R_ZE—NFMEA—H —
Depredation for the year FRITE 1,184
Exchange realignment ME H, 8 B (4)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-ZBF=ZHA=+—H 1,180
Net carrying value REFE
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZFE-_FEF=ZRA=+—H 3,433

As at 31 March 2019

R-ZE—AF=A=+—H
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

On 27 April 2013, the Company entered into the conditional
sale and purchase agreement to acquire 450,000,000
ordinary shares of Extrawell, a listed company in Hong
Kong, of par value HK$0.01 each from JNJ Investment
Limited (“*JNJ“) (a company in which 33.33% equity
interest is beneficially owned by each of Dr. Mao Yumin
(“Dr. Mao”) and Dr. Xie Yi (“Dr. Xie”) — see note 33), at a
consideration of HK$288,000,000, which was satisfied by
issuance of convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$288,000,000 by the Company. On 25 October 2013,
since all conditions precedent to the abovementioned
acquisition were fulfilled, the acquisition of the Extrawell’s
shares was completed on 25 October 2013, of which
370,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell was acquired by
issuance of convertible bonds (Convertible Bonds | — see
Note 28) in the principal amount of HK$236,800,000, and
the remaining 80,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell were
acquired on 27 December 2013 by issuance of Convertible
Bonds | in the principal amount of HK$51,200,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company and
Dr. Mao entered into the sales and purchase agreement
pursuant to acquire 457,510,000 ordinary shares of
Extrawell and the convertible bonds in an aggregate
outstanding principal amount of HK$577,170,000 issued
by Extrawell to the Company on 29 October 2013, 25
April 2014, 1 September 2014, 7 January 2015 and 7 May
2015 with conversion right to convert into 900,000,000
shares of Extrawell at a conversion price of HK$0.6413 with
zero coupon due on 16 July 2033. The transaction was
completed on 8 October 2019.

ARa SRR

18. REFE RRINER

RZE—=FNMA-++H XQT
FIVERHEEERR  BINIIREER
RAR(INID(—HED R BERREE
T(EBFELTDEHBRFEL(HELD
BREFHEAEIBIBwEHRZAF-R
MPaSl) R E(—HEAEELTA
al) 450,000,000/ & I E{EO0.01/8
JC 2 EE A% - {8 £288,000,000/%8
TLe ZARBRARAIBRITALES
288,000,000,8 T Z Al A fE(EH ST -
RZE—Z=ZF+A=-+HB AR EX
FI7 3t Uk B8 0 2 SRR R I I R - IR
BERNMEN-ZE—=F+A=-+HH
e K+ H #1370,000,0000% 15 18 & &
% 75 3% i 3% 17 AN & B8 5236,800,000
B2 BB ES (TR ES— -
RM 5E28) BB 1§ M # 180,000,000
BREEBLTARDEABRTASEA
51,200,000/8 L Z AT MR EH — R =
T-—=F+-_A-t++HES-

REE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HILF
B ARREEBLITLESWHE -
& It Uk B8 §5 18 2457,510,0000% I 3@
EREEENR-_ZE—=F+A=-1tAh
H - —Z—WUFWA-+HB ==
—EALH—HB - ZE—RF— A+
BE-_Z—AHFHA+HRAQR
17+ MARITEARS BEE /577,170,000
BT M A ERERIR0.64138 L2
HiREE % 52 2900,000,0000%
f&1n RZEBE==F+ A+ <HEIH
2EEBAMBRES  c RHIENR=ZE
—NFE+ANBEK -
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continue)

18. Rt & NI

2020
—E-SE

—=< —=

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
T T

HK$’000
TR

Cost of investment in associates /NS E - N

— Listed in Hong Kong (Note a) RNE B L (M sEa) - 476,841
Share of post-acquisition results and  FE{E Ut BE 148 3 48 |2

other comprehensive income H b 2 Wz - 109,531
Impairment loss on interest in an R—EBE R RER

associate (Note b) BEEE (M 5Eb) - (437,696)
Adjustment against non-controlling IR ER N8B

interests on initial recognition (Note c) ¥ 3R B 2 78 2 (M 5 c) - (99,722)

. 48,954

Fair value of listed investment (Note d) & & 2 A F & (B 5Fd) - 48,954

Notes:

(a) The cost of investment in Extrawell represents the aggregate of
(i) the fair value of the Convertible Bonds | with principal amount
of HK$236,800,000 issued by the Company on 25 October 2013
for the acquisition of 370,000,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell
amounted to HK$387,160,000; (ii) the fair value of the Convertible
Bonds | with principal amount of HK$51,200,000 issued by the
Company on 27 December 2013 for the acquisition of 80,000,000
ordinary shares of Extrawell amounted to HK$87,142,000; and (iii)
further acquisition of 7,510,000 ordinary shares of Extrawell at cost
of HK$2,539,000 during the year ended 31 March 2015.

(b) As at 31 March 2019, the Group recognised impairment loss of
approximately HK$33,190,000 in profit or loss which represented
the difference between the fair value of the shares of Extrawell
based on the share price of Extrawell as at 31 March 2019 and the
carrying amount of interest in the associates.
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(a)

RBEZEERAEBOHARA AWK
8 %5 8370,000,0000% ¥ i@ A& ({E &
387,160,000/ L) MR =ZF — =% 1+ A
T+ R BAETAL R A236,800,0007#
TR ES — A FE (i) AR F)
74 U B8 #5 280,000,000 1% & i A% (1E (B
87,142,000 L) MR T —=F+=_A
Z+ BB TR L RE /51,200,000
TEHABRBEES A TFENEE &
(iIWREE-_FT—RAF=-A=+—H1IHF

€ i — 25 542,539,000 7T 2 Ak A Uk B
#5187,510,0000% & 8 A% -

“E-AF=A=1+—H AEENE
4 P B RRORLE 8 18 49.33,190,00058 7T
ERRBER-_FT-NF=A=+—H
ZIHEREEEZRERMAFER
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continue)

Notes: (Continued)

(@

In 2015, the Group purchased 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent
Limited (“Smart Ascent”) from Extrawell (BVI) Limited (“Extrawell
(BVI)”). Since SAL has become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group and consequently SAL and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “SAL Group”) have been consolidated by the
Group commencing from 28 July 2014, the amount of equity in SAL
Group that is attributable to the remaining 49% interest in Smart
Ascent held by Extrawell and included in the carrying amount of
interest in Extrawell prior to the acquisition of Smart Ascent by the
Group has been reclassified out of non-controlling interest (and
interest in associate) and treated as part of equity attributable to
owners of the Company to the extent of the Company’s attributable
equity interest in Extrawell which represented the share of equity
in SAL Group attributable to the Company’s ownership interest in
Extrawell.

The fair value of listed investment is based on the quoted market
bid price of the shares of Extrawell as at the end of the reporting
period.

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Name of
associates

BELNRLHE

Place of Principal
incorporation/ place of
operation operation
IZ
XY

Class of
shares held
fi&

&4 % Bl

AL/
T

2020
-—g-%%

—_F =

Extrawell Bermuda PRC Ordinary shares -
BE BRE i LBk -
Longmark (Shanghai) PRC PRC Registered capital 33.33%
ER(LE) h T S AR 33.33%

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect
of the Group’s material associate, Extrawell and its
subsidiaries (“Extrawell Group”), is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the Extrawell’s consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

18.

Proportion of voting
power held by
the Company

ERAE
RABLA

AR BTG R T

REBELATNEZR

MiaE: (&)

R—ZZT—HF K% EE 5 Extrawell
(BVI) Limited ([Extrawell (BVI)|)i&E & i
ERRDF(HEED 1% BB - AR
HEEKATNEBEZF2EMB AT -
mEkEEREWNBAR (KBIEES
EDER-Z—NE+A-F+/\HELK
SRTARKE - ABEMFAEERT
49% R 7= FE AL+ B PAZN S B K B o A A
AABERERRAECEEAERERS
HMEBFEERER (RPBE QR ME
=)REHHE  EARAELEER
ERNARRATIRIEE 2 B EE L
ZEEEERE)AR  UARREE
ANEERZER -

(©

FRREZATELREEERGRR
EHROTIHEABRBH -

AEEZBERRNBERRNFR
LN

Proportion of nominal

value
of issued capital
held by the Company  Principal activity
AARFBERT
A 8 b A TEER
2019 2020
“T-NF ZB-RF
19.14% - 1914%  Development,
manufacture and sale
of pharmaceutical
products
19.14% - 1914% RE RERHEEEEM
33.33% 49.78% 49.78%  Provision of health care
management services
33.33%  49.78% 49.78% RERREERS
FRAEEFZBHERRIBELA
MEBAR(HREEEDZGEUKE
B ZEs 0T - TXFEMEER
MEERBEE BV B REEN G
ZIRBZIEFEaMBWMERMIIGKIE -
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 18. Rt & NI
2020 2019
— ? — qE :%_j—bﬂz
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi#& T T& T
Current assets mENEE 208,642
Non-current assets EMBE E 987,444
Current liabilities mE e’ 79,738
Non-current liabilities IEmBEE 54,777
Non-controlling interests FEE IR HE = (5,081)

2020 2019
—BRCRE —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR TAET

Non-current assets include the following: 3ER B EERFE ~5]ER :

Property, plant and equipment Y- HENZE - 140,740
Intangible assets BEEE - 1,807
Financial assets at fair value through EAVFEGFABERZ
profit or loss TREE — 469,737
Interest in an associate IS E*i /NG Eok - 330,062
Current assets include the following: MEBEEBRETYIER:
Trade and bills receivables Z 5 W R R K B E B - 20,047
Pledged bank deposits BT IRITER - 20,994
Bank balances and cash MITEHRERS - 148,902

Current liabilities include the following: B AGBEE T5|ER :
Accruals and other payables FEETE Rk AN RIE - 56,201

Non-current liabilities include the following: 3R B BERIE N 5|EE :
Convertible bonds AR ES - 49,635
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continue)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BTG R T

18. R E RN ER @

2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Revenue U 5 - 89,218
Profit for the year F N F - 63,324
Other comprehensive expenses Hi2EMAX - (65,928)
Total comprehensive expense for FRNE2EAZ
the year 4 RE - (2,604)
Fair value and other equity accounting A F{& & E fth i 25 2
adjustments AR - 6,298
- 3,694
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AN &E B R 15E 2
interest in Extrawell mAERERER L - 19.14%
Share of post-acquisition profits and 4 A & { I B8 1% % 51| &
other comprehensive income H 2w
for the year - 707
Share of results of associates DIREEE AR EE - 13,326
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ERE IR M R
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continveq) 18. R E RTINER @
2020 2019
— ? — ﬂE :%_j—bﬂz
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Net assets of Extrawell Group REEEZEEFE - 1,061,571
Less: Equity component of the BB EITZABRKRES
convertible bonds issued by ZHEZEE D
Extrawell - (5612,359)
- 549,212
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ NEBEREE 2 A #
interest in Extrawell == el - 19.14%
The Group’s share of net assets AEEREGREEEFE
of Extrawell - 105,119
Goodwill BES - 156,258
Adjustment against non-controlling I IR == R W) 86
interests on initial recognition MR A - (99,722)
Impairment loss on interests in REtE RRIH =R ZRE
associates E1a - (33,190
Fair value and other equity accounting A F{& & Efth i 25 2
adjustments SRR - (79,511)
Carrying amount of the Group’s REE I REEE RRIBE 2
interest in Extrawell as an associate  # % 2 BRE (A - 48,954
Information of associates that are not BRAMSEFRERZHEE QAR Z
individually material &H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT

The Group’s share of loss and total AEERBLEFABER
comprehensive expense for the year 2 [ X 253 - —

Carrying amount of the Group’s RE l P /N
interests in these associates &= ZE%ETE - —

The unrecognised share of loss of F A KRER
an associate for the year FEL B R F) S 1B - —

Cumulative unrecognised share of loss £ &t K i 2
of an associate FE(RHEZ AR EE - (13,267)
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19. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE

BONDS

On 27 April 2013, the Company entered into the conditional
sale and purchase agreement to acquire (i) convertible
bonds issued by Extrawell in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$320,650,000 (“Sale CB-I") from Dr. Mao
at an aggregate consideration of HK$320,000,000
(“Consideration 1”); and (ii) convertible bonds issued
by Extrawell in an aggregate principal amount up to
HK$256,520,000 (“Sale CBII”), from Dr. Mao at an
aggregate consideration up to a maximum amount of
HK$256,000,000 (“Consideration II”). Consideration
| was satisfied by payment of cash amounting to
HK$120,000,000 and issuance of convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$200,000,000 by the Company.
Consideration Il was satisfied by issuance of convertible
bonds in the principal amount of HK$256,000,000 in four
batches by the Company.

The Sale CB-l and Sale CB-Il (collectively referred to as
the “Sale CBs”) are zero coupon convertible bonds, with
a maturity date of the twentieth anniversary of the issue
date and are denominated in HK$. The Sale CBs entitle
the bond holders to convert them into shares of Extrawell
at any time during the period commencing from the date
of issuance up to the seventh business day prior to the
maturity of the Sale CBs, at the conversion price per share
of HK$0.6413, subject to anti-dilutive clauses.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company and
Dr. Mao entered into the sales and purchase agreement
pursuant to acquire 457,510,000 ordinary shares of
Extrawell and the convertible bonds in an aggregate
outstanding principal amount of HK$577,170,000 issued
by Extrawell to the Company on 29 October 2013, 25 April
2014, 1 September 2014, 7 January 2015 and 7 May 2015
with conversion right to convert into 900,000,000 shares
of Extrawell at a conversion price of HK$0.6413 with zero
coupon interest due on 16 July 2033. The transaction was
completed on 8 October 2019.

ARa SRR

1. T REZRE

NZE—=FMHA=++tH ' ~XRAF]
_Lﬁﬂ;kﬁ:é!ﬁﬁju% A8 EFLTHK
BB EEITAS 8% A320,650,000
BITHABHBRES(SFETRRE
% —1) # K& £&320,000,000/% JT
(MRE—D  RiBEELKIEHE
BETAEBE &S /256,520,000
B ARRES((FETRKRES
—1) R {E&S5256,000,0007 T
(MREZ)D - RE—HBARARABIR
% R {8120,000,0007% 7T & B 17 A &
%8 /200,000,000 JT 2 7] # % (& %
e REZHHRARF @B LI
17N % 58 £256,000,00078 T 2 7]
mREHFI -

HETRRESF —REETRERES

—(HmEIEETRRES)AZSER
MIRES  FIEEARITEHEESE
—t+AFEB  LAETFE FEA
BRESFBTESFFEAER 8%
ﬁaﬁﬁiai%%ﬂﬁﬂxﬁ#ﬂﬁﬁa
AECEEEANRN - BEEEAIRRE
5RBAERBERND EHREAER
f8150.64138 7T » A REFIER
PR Il o

NEE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HIFF
E o AAFHEBITIVESEHE
V& I U B8 45 18 2457,510,0000% & 8

BEREEBEER-_ZE—=F+A=-1tAh
A —Z—WHFmWA=-+HA =2
—mEAA—R —ZEZ—HE—A+

El&:i% RERA+LBHRARR
T MARTTEAS 2% A577,170,000
,’%75 B 7 & 4 A 420.64138 T 2
4 (8 8 5 K518 2900,000,0000%
HXTJJ RZE==F+H+/~HIH
ZEEBAMRES  c RHERZE
—NF+ANBEK -
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19. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE
BONDS (Continued)

The fair values of the Sale CBs and its components on
initial recognition and of the derivative component as at
31 March 2020 and 2019 are determined based on the
valuation conducted by an independent professional valuer.
The movements of Sale CBS at a whole for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 are set out as below:

10. IR REFKRE @

R-E-TER_T-NF=ZA=1+—
E?#’%T?ﬁ‘ﬂﬂf%*&mi*ﬁ D ) 2 T
NFEDERBILEXRGERME
i&

p/L;

ﬁzﬁﬁﬁfm S
—NF=ZA= + BIEFERF
@%WWT

K ph

%@%%#IL

Debt Derivative
component component Total
BB PTEB D 4ot
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FA T THTT FA T
As at 31 March 2018 R-E—N\F=ZH=+—H 45,341 121,106 166,447
Initial application of HKFRS 9 & )X i i & /8 B 15 il &5 %

(Note 3(a)) Al 25955 (Fff 52 3(a)) 1,980
As at 1 April 2018 EA_ - N\FMYH—H 168,427
Change in fair value (note 8) A F{& & &) (I 518) (56,485)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—hF=HA=+—H 111,942
Change in fair value (note 8) & F (& & &) (M 5£8) (22,132)
Disposal & (89,810)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-_EF=H=+—H —

The acquisition of Sale CB-l was completed on 25 October
2013. The acquisition of the first, second and third batches
of Sale CB-Il, each batch having a principal amount of
HK$64,130,000, were completed on 24 April 2014, 30
August 2014 and 31 December 2014, respectively. The
acquisition of the fourth batch of Sale CB-Il with principal
amount of HK$64,130,000 was completed on 30 April
2015.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised subsequent decrease in fair value of
investments in convertible bonds of HK$22,132,000 (2019:
HK$56,485,000).
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19. INVESTMENTS IN CONVERTIBLE 19. R EFREw
BO N DS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2019 R-E—-hE=H=+—H
24 April 30 August 31 December 30 April 31 March 8 October
2014 2014 2014 2015 2019 2019
“E-mE  -E-Qm% “E-NE —E-1% “E-hE “E-NE
MA=+MmA NE=tH +ZB=t-H MA=+H =HB=1-H TANR
Stock price RE HK$0.4 HK$0.335 HK$0.325 HK$0.55 HK$0.107 HK$0.079
04T 033558 T 0325 L 055/ T 01073 T 0.079% 7t
Exercise price el HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413 HK$0.6413
0.64133 L 06413 T 064138 1T 06413 T 0.6413/ T 0.6413B T
Discount rate BB E 18.21% 18.44% 19.04% 18.76% 17.60% 18.57%
Risk-free rate (note a) R % () 2.70% 2.28% 2.24% 1.81% 1.42% 1.68%
Expected volatilty B
(note b) (K to) 63.71% 62.61% 61.73% 58.62% 56.14% 57.68%
Expected dividend yield ~ BHIR 8 UH =
(note o) (hrsto) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Any changes in the major inputs used in the model BXAAZEEH ABBOELET
will result in changes in the fair values of the debt and A LB EREBRITELIOH AT
derivative components. BEEEL-
Notes: B 5E -
(@)  The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@ EAMEDZLERHEBRTEBRNES
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. REHFH Y = EEE -
(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of Extrawell over the bond by EREHHHEBENBEIREKE -
period.
(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of () HEEMNBERBIRMNMEE -
Extrawell.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSET

128

COST AND CARRYING VALUES

1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020

R AR REE
As at 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, R_E

20. BB E

In-process
R&D
mEBRE

HK$’000
T

—\FHA—R ZFT—A
F=Z=A=+—8"

—TE-NAFNNA—BERZZEC

TE=A=1-A

1,373,224

The In-process R&D represented an in-process research
and development project involving the Product. The patents
of an invention “a method of production of oil-phase
preparation of oral insulin (—fE & O R & & &= M8 &
B #) 77K)” in relation to the Product are registered under
the joint names of Fosse Bio-Engineering Development
Limited (“Fosse Bio”) and Tsinghua University, Beijing
(“THU”) granted by State Intellectual Property Office of the
PRC and United States Patent and Trademark Office of
the United States of America granted on 4 August 2004
and 28 March 2006 respectively and will be expired on 20
April 2021 and 12 April 2022 respectively. Fosse Bio is a
subsidiary of Smart Ascent, which became a subsidiary of
the Company upon completion of the acquisition on 28 July
2014. In addition, Fosse Bio and THU have entered into
the agreements in 1998 in connection with the research
and development of the Product. Pursuant to the THU
Collaboration Arrangement, which is originally expired
in October 2018. During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the Group has entered into a supplemental agreement
with THU to renew the terms of the collaboration for
another five years to October 2023. (the “Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement”). Under the Renewed THU
Collaboration Agreement, Fosse Bio would be entitled to
commercialise the relevant technologies of the Product
and to manufacture and sell the Product on an exclusive
basis, and THU is entitled to 1.5% of Fosse Bio’s annual
sales upon commercialisation of the Product. Accordingly,
Fosse Bio has the exclusive right for the commercialisation
of the Product for the duration of the unexpired term of the
Renewed THU Collaboration Agreement.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

Legal advisors of the Company have informed that if the
Renewed THU collaboration agreement is early terminated
or expired, Fosse Bio will no longer have the exclusive right
of the commercialisation of the Product. Any of Fosse Bio
or THU will have the rights to independently commercialise
the patented product, without the consent from each other.
However, given that THU is an educational unit and does not
engage in commercialisation of the Product, the directors of
the Company have prepared the cash flow projections for
the 10-year period using the assumption that the product
will be launched in the fourth quarter of 2022.

The recoverable amount of the In-process R&D is
determined based on fair value calculations using
the income approach, with reference to the valuation
performed by Roma Appraisal Limited, an independent
firm of professional qualified valuers. The fair value
calculation used the cash flow projections prepared by the
management based on certain key assumptions, in which
the estimated cash inflows derived from budgeted sales
and expected gross margin were based on the expectations
for the market development. In addition, the fundamental
assumptions included the regulatory approvals from the
relevant government bodies (in particular, the granting
of the certificate of new medicine and pharmaceutical
manufacturing permit for the Product by China Food and
Drug Administration of the PRC) to launch the Product in the
fourth quarter of 2022.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-
process R&D approved by the management cover a 10-year
period. The calculation used in the cash flow projections
with certain key parameters are as below:

AR BTG R T

20. B EE 2

KARZERBEBRECRR BEEE
AIEMERBREREXER &
T THEEERLERZERRE -
BHRBERETM—A BB
ZEHRBEMZERETREMRL
BEHARE - A - ERNBEARSE
EHEREBENTELX2TERZE
mit KRR EEERRBRRERBR
TR _FENEFEHL  REI10F
HzEeRETENR -

MaEpizzA kBB IIKE2EE
VEEXEERMGEMESEERFGESE
RARETHME  ERAKAERR
FEFAEEE - R VEAREEERE
BEENRETIEBRRIGHEZIAETR
EFEA HREFRERARER
BEFHEMBMENEKDENE T
SEROTAM - N EABRRER
HEABRNEER S —_FFNEE
REARBEMERNE B E(RR
mE - ZHTPEBEREREREEE
BRRREMERHEFAESE) -

EEEEMLNTHRBEREEHR
REBEN@DREI0OFHE - BER
EBAMAFERETHARSENT
FT 7R

Discount rate (post-tax) AR & (Fi1g)
Growth rate 1% &
Gross profit ratio 48 R B &

24.64% 23.64%
3% 3%
64.44% 64.44%
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

Based on the impairment review assessment, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s intangible asset is
estimated to be higher than the carrying amount. Therefore,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
impairment on the carrying amount of the In-process R&D
has to be recognised for the year (2019: Nil).

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
based on credit. The credit terms of 90 days (2019:
90 days). All sales made to the major customer have
short credit terms. These credit evaluations focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

BEBEEE»
*E?J%?/)Wﬁ&u A RE B LA E
FEENAKEOREESRERT
B At KRRREERAE  HAH
FARAMEEEZEMERIRABEC
T—NF |E)-

21. E S EWER X

AREBEPZESGRREBRARIET
T BPRAIEBZEEHR/0H
(ZZE—-N%F: 9OEI)°F1?E;<§J51’E
L FEHENREEER - ZFE
EFEEPXNEHRE ZBER
B URBRIZXNEN  XERE
PUEEEFPEZZ KEREAH
ZHEER - REBEABBESR
YEz BKFIE - R EEESEH
EH BB -

R¥mEMRK *ETF%‘ =HHIZ2%] 2
ZREM R 2 R DT T

2020 2019
—E_FHF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
30 days or less 0Bz AT - 767
31 to 60 days 31Z260H - 762
61 to 90 days 612 90H 725 1,693
Over 90 days H#E90H 14,883 17,954
15,608 21,176

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. AEBEBRERZSERSBEEMNE

m o
Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are BORWERRETH ZFBHR
set out in note 38. B$3E38 ©
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 22, A RIE  -HERHEHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES &S]

2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF

HK$°000 HK$’000
FER TR

Prepaid rental, management fee and FB[HfiH & - EEB L Hb
&

other prepaid project operating fund {18 B & 18 £ 2 - 46
Deposits paid BEftEE 549 2,091
Others =i 3,093 4,168
Total e 3,642 6,305
Details of impairment of other receivables and deposits are EMmERREBERESBENGZF

set out in note 38. 1S A HT5ES8 ©

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD-FOR-TRADING 23. X ZMH R EE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHET
Unlisted investments FLEMEE
Equity funds outside Hong Kong REBURIN RIEE S - —
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has REBEE_ZE—NF=A=+—HIEF
recognised a fair value loss of HK$18,124,000 in profit or B AEBEREBEZANERRAFEE
loss. 818,124,000/ T °
24. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24. RITHEBRRES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash and bank balances RIOTEHREASBEEASERFEZ
held by the Group with original maturity of three months RekiR{THAR - RIHAR=MEA
or less and carry interest at prevailing deposit rates which HEREE  RBIIERMEGFE
range from 0.016% to 0.027% (2019: 0.016% to 0.027%) R = TG 40.016%E0.027% (= F
per annum. — L 1 0.016% £0.027%) °
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25. TRADE PAYABLES 25. EZ B IR R
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables R|EER REEEEHEY &
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the SENERZERIWNWOT :

reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
TF#& T F& T
30 days or less 30HE AT - 698
31 to 60 days 31260H - 675
Over 60 days HB3E60H 10,253 19,841
10,253 21,214
The average credit period on purchase of goods normally BEEMCFHEERATE N F60H
range from 60 days to 90 days. Z90H -
26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEA®E
Lease
liabilities
HE&SE
2020
—E-EBHF
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Current Bl 2A 2,285
Non-current 3F BN &1 1,111
3,396
Minimum lease payments due RTFHE AR
®IEBERE
— Within one year — — %R 2,411
— More than one year but not more than two  — i@ —F
years BARLRME 1,128
3,539
Future finance charges RAERBERAX (143)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAFERE 3,396
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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26. HEEBE»

Lease
liabilities
HEEE
2020
—E-BHF
RMB’000
AR® T

Present value of minimum lease payments =IEBEERIERE
— Within one year ——FR 2,285

— More than one year but not more than two  — i@ —F

years BAZRMEF 1,111
3,396
Amounts due for settlement within one year R—FRINBERN 225 2,285
Amounts due for settlement after one year R—FRrIMPEN 2o HE 1,111
3,396

The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follow:

AEEFEGZEHERBBENT

As at 1 April 2019 M-ZE—AEMA—H 411
Additions NE 4,174
Interest expense FERAX 116
Repayment B (1,278)
Exchange realignment b 5, 38 B (27)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZTZTF=A=+—H 3,396
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27. LOAN TO A NON-CONTROLLING 27. FERERZEX
2020 2019
—E-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Loan to a non-controlling interest FEERERE R
Fordnew (Note a) @ e (Fit st a)
Carrying value FREAE 6,067 6,067
Less: Impairment loss BB EEE (6,067) (6,067)
Notes: M2
(@)  This represents a loan made by Smart Ascent to Fordnew Industrial @ FZREERELERBEBRA-T——FA
Limited (“Fordnew”) pursuant to the loan agreement dated 25 A+ RABZERBRRABHEXER
May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing and ARI(RBDBEECER - ZERAE
repayment term was eight years after drawdown dates. BERARENS  BEEEFRBAIZIHARE
J\EFHY -
On 7 April 2014, Fordnew made a drawdown notice amounting to RZT—OFEOALH @HEL—H
about HK$2,789,000, and prior to the completion of acquisition on S FB# /2,789,000 ST Z IR FGAAME -
28 July 2014, the aggregate utilised and unutilised balances were MRZZT—NFLt A+ NBZHETK
HK$10,579,000 and HK$19,421,000 respectively. Bl BEERARKREAZEREEI AR
10,579,0007% 7t }% 19,421,000 7T °
As at 31 March 2015, principal amounts of HK$4,807,000, RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H X=&
HK$1,190,000 and HK$4,582,000 are required to be repaid after #4,807,000/ 7T * 1,190,000/ 7T &
8 years from April 2011, April 2012 and April 2014 respectively. 4,582,000 THRIFR-_E——FMA -
Accordingly, the balance is classified as non-current. Such non- TEC—FMARZT—MFMAREN
current interest-free loan to a non-controlling interest is recognised FREERE Bt ZERSEIERIE
at its fair value of HK$2,977,000 upon the acquisition of Smart BUAR o £ LA B BX 6 FI) £ 26.99% Y B8 #E &
Ascent with an effective interest rate of 26.99% per annum. & ZIETIHERER ZEMBAEF D
B #2,977,0008 T2 N FED W H#ER ©
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no further imputed interest HE_Z-_TF=HA=+—HBILFE " H
income has been credited to profit or loss since the amounts was REZEFRBERBRAE WTEBEWHE
fully impaired (2019: Nil). FMEBABTAER(CT—NF &) o
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NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO FORMER ASSOCIATE,
LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST, LOAN FROM A FORMER
ASSOCIATE AND LOAN FROM A
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

FE A5 R 4% R A 28 BRIR

AR BTG R T

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING 28.fE ‘3 pRfES R Al EiE
INTERESTS AND FORMER

MRS KIE - B AT E
MIE - REFERERE
M REABERRAERR
—NEERRER

2020
—g-%F

— i =

2019
—E-hF
HK$°000
FHET

HK$°000
FTER

Fordnew (Notes a and b) & B (Ft stab) 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former JE 1< BT JE 458 AR 2 SR TE
non-controlling interests
Zheng Chang Xue (Notes a and b) 58 2 (MfsEakb) 559 559
Hou Shi Chang (Notes a and b) &t 8 (M iFakb) 165 165
Feel So Good Limited Feel So Good Limited
(Notes a and b) (Fff #Ea & b) 99 99
823 823
Amount due to former associate JEREEE RE 2
i SpE=NGIE Q|
Extrawell (BVI) (Note d) Extrawell (BVI) (Bt 3£ d) 41,947 41,952
Loan from a non-controlling interest R EJEIF I 25 B X
Fordnew (Note ¢) 2 B (B 5 ¢) 20,929 20,929
Loan from a former associate RERTHEERFER
Extrawell (BVI) (Note e) Extrawell (BVI) (Bt 5T e) 15,383 5,027
Loan from a substantial shareholder ~ —f{I X B EHE X
Dr. Mao (Note f) EiE 1 (M5 7,000 25,000

20204F R
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28. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS AND FORMER
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS,
AMOUNT DUE TO FORMER ASSOCIATE,
LOAN FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
INTEREST, LOAN FROM A FORMER
ASSOCIATE AND LOAN FROM A
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER (continueq

29.

136

Notes:

(@)

(b)

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

The amounts represent contributions made by non-controlling
interests of Fosse Bio in respect of working capital and operation
funds for the further clinical trials of the oral insulin project. The
amounts due to non-controlling interests and former non-controlling
interests were respectively HK$22,671,000 and HK$823,000 at the
date of acquisition on 28 July 2014.

This represents a loan made by Fordnew to Fosse Bio pursuant to
the loan agreement entered into between Smart Ascent and Fordnew
on 25 May 2011. The loan is unsecured and non-interest bearing.
Details of the loan are disclosed in note 27(a) to these consolidated
financial statements. During the year ended 31 March 2020, imputed
interest expense of HK$nil (2019: HK$2,424,000) has been charged
to profit or loss.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and is not repayable within
one year.

On 27 July 2018, the Company and Extrawell (BVI) entered into a
shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting
to HK$30 million in total (the “Loan”), to be contributed as to 59% i.e.
HK$15.3 million by the Company and as to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million
by Extrawell (BVI). The Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum.

In September 2018, Smart Ascent had drawn down HK$10 million
of the Loan. As at 31 March 2020, interest expenses of HK$556,000
(2019: HK$127,000) is recognised to profit or loss.

The loan from a substantial shareholder is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayment on demand (2019: repayment term was three
years after drawdown date).

DEFERRED TAX

At 31 March 2020, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of HK$182,617,000 (2019: HK$48,803,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses
have not been agreed by the relevant authorities.

28. B kIR ER R AT IEIZ
BRESNE - B BE
MIE - REFERERZRE
K REFBEEQIARERK
—NFERRER=®

29.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report
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Hy o

ZHRIBERANEERESHZEE
B RORESEHEENE P BRIK
ARNCEE 2HR - RIKERA=
T—MFELAZTNR  ZEMFEER
BE R BRAFEREZREBES A
22,671,000% 7T % 823,000/% 7T °

ERTREBEEN-_ZE—FRA-1+h
B+ REBRRITERBEETREIZ
BER - ZERAEERBRERNS - B3
ANBRHFREEMBEHRENE27(0) - BE
—E-THFE-A-+—ALLFE HE
FERAZTEIT(ZZE—NF 1 2,424,000
B ERIBREFME -

ZRERELER REREFE—FA

R -

R-ZE—N\FLtA-_++tH ARAK
Extrawell BVI)ET S — IR B ER W -
) #E A R 48 58 530,000,000 T2 B
KZER]D)  AARE IR #59% 5 B
(B115,300,0007% JT.) & 1 Extrawell (BVI)
12 4t 49% 7 18 (B114,700,000% 7T) © 3%
BERBEIER - FRHERS -

RZTE—N\FhA EERDNZERA
10,000,000 L2 HIEH - RZTEZTF
=A=+—H"  Fl 8% H556,000% T
—T— A% 127,000 L) ERNEER
TR e

—EERRERSEEN - BN O K
REKBEE(CZE-NF:BFIR/IR
Hig=%4) -

i #IE i T8

\
R
N

ZE-_TFE=RA=+—H KEH

HETERE AT EE18182,617,000/%
7T (= Z — N £ : 48,803,000/ 7T)
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 30. AR E =
The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds FARRBETZAIRRKRESEBES
issued by the Company for the year is set out below: DZEBEEYWT
Convertible  Convertible  Convertible  Convertible
Bonds | Bonds II Bonds I Bonds IV
CIE:3 CE: CE:3 CE: L
EH- &%= E%= E5m @
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL AT TAT FHL
As at 1 April 2018 R-E-\EMA—H 95,922 46,662 397,529 14,402 554,515
Effective interest expenses ERFBRAY 25,056 11,533 89,180 3,373 129,142
Interest expense paid ERFERY - - (25,025) - (25,025)
As at 31 March 2019 and RZE-NE=R=+-H
1 April 2019 rZE-NEMA-H 120,978 58,195 461,684 17,775 658,632
Effective interest expenses ERASHAT 27,247 8,526 106,418 4,176 146,367
Deemed early redemption of RERFEETRRES
convertible bonds (37,248) (52,358 - - (89,606)
Modification of convertible bonds X AR E% - - 27,749 - 27,749
As at 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZF-A=+-H 110,977 14,363 595,851 21,951 743,142
The effective interest rates of all the liability component of FrEAHLEKRESNMEARI»
all the convertible bonds ranged from: 23.44% to 26.24% MEBRFMENF: 8§ F23.44% =
per annum (2019: 23.44% to 26.24% per annum). 26.24% (ZE—NF: BF2844% %
26.24%) °
Convertible Bonds | ARRES—
The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate AARRZE—=F+A-+HBAKZ
principal amount of HK$436,800,000 and HK$51,200,000 T—=FT AT ERBETUBREK
respectively on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013 &% © &5t A2 5kl /436,800,000
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds I”) for the 78 7T 551,200,000/ 7T (& T8 [ AT ik
acquisition of Sale CB-l and 450,000,000 ordinary shares BEH ) BEWEBGFEIRRKRE
of Extrawell. The Convertible Bonds | with a zero coupon % — LA &8 B 19450,000,000 4% & i
rate mature on the tenth anniversary of the date of issue. fg - TEEEENAMRES BT

HHIEFETREFERRH -
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq) 30. AT IR & &5 0

138

Convertible Bonds | (continuea)

The Convertible Bonds | entitle the bond holders to convert
them into shares of the Company at any time within 10
years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds |,
at the conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject to
anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds | have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds | are issued in HK$. The fair values
of the liability component were HK$42,886,000 and
HK$4,981,000 for the Convertible Bonds | issued by the
Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 December 2013
respectively, which has been determined by the discounted
cash flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate
of similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account

ABBRESE— @
AMRES—HTESFEAER
RETAMRES —BHETTRE
RN BRES— L?’*‘F‘%Kﬁﬂﬂx
o BHMESESRRKH0.40%8TT A
X REEERBRE o

fiid Al #R BB 25 — R - HR 0 3%
TEHMRETBFRAREERD -

AR ES —ABITET AR A
F T—=—F+A-_+HAR_-ZE

—=F+-A=-+tHRETHAR
KELHF—HEBES>RAFEDHA
42,886,000/% JT &4,981,000/% JT °
EBARReREE  FAHBEMU
éEfﬁﬂﬁH&f?%%ﬁﬁi%??ﬁ?h%%U%ﬁééﬁi*

the credit risk of the Company. The fair values of the Witk ARB ZEER K’Aﬁf%
conversion option of HK$671,267,000 and HK$82,161,000 —T—=F+A= ‘HEEI&

classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds F+=-AZ= +tEI§§? ZTTﬁHxﬁ%
| issued by the Company on 25 October 2013 and 27 —’\*EFE'MZE” DR EZ A TFE

December 2013 respectively were calculated using the

Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: BT DEBZEABERTE - ZiE
A AT :
25 October 2013 27 December 2013
—E—= —E—=

+B=+EA +ZA=t++tH
Principal amount of Principal amount of
HK$436,800,000 HK$51,200,000
436,800,0007% JT 51,200,0007% 7T
Stock price (8 HK$0.91 HK$0.99
091/ 0.99/% 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0.40/8 7T 0.40/8 7T
Discount rate BH IR & 26.12% 26.24%
Risk-free rate (note a) 2 3 B B R (Bt 5t a) 1.83% 2.32%
Expected volatility (note b) & HR R 18 (B 3£ b) 86.71% 85.53%
Expected dividend yield (note ©) TEHIR B W e & (M 3Ec) 0.00% 0.00%

2 Rl 671 ,267,0005%5 7T }282,161,000
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iR e SRR
30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continve) 30. TR B F )
Convertible Bonds | (continuea) ABERES— #)
Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will BAFAZEZEH ABBEEEM
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. po ) H‘f BEYEBBO R FEERE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair B srEREL “"?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ =
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ REREDEREESHNREMG o
best estimate.
Notes: M aE
(@)  The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong @ FEMED2ENGEARESBGES
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation. J BB 5 B U 2 R E o
(b)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past b)) EREBEHABARARMBETEREE -
bond period.
(c)  Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the € WBEARFAHBARBIRMEFED -
Company.
During the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none of RNEEz-—_E-_EN_T—HE=FA
the Convertible Bonds | was converted into ordinary shares =+—B tig WER AR B E —
of the Company. WeEih S ARNBEBR -
The movement of liability component of Convertible Bonds ERNTABRREE— aBIYEE S
| for the year is set out below: SRANR
Principal Carrying
amount amount
¥R REE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
AT AT
As at 1 April 2018 RZZ—N\EWMA—H 351,600 95,922
Effective interest expense BN ERX — 25,056

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=—_ZE—hhF=A=+—H

MZE—-AFMHA—H 351,600 120,978

Effective interest expense EBRFEAX — 27,247
Deemed early redemption of HIERFBERABRKRES

convertible bonds (95,600) (37,248)

As at 31 March 2020 N_E_FTF=H=+—H 256,000 110,977
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

140

Convertible Bonds Il

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000, HK$64,000,000 and
HK$64,000,000 respectively on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 (collectively referred to as
“Convertible Bonds [I”) for the acquisition of Sale CB-ll
first batch, second batch and third batch respectively. The
Convertible Bonds Il with zero coupon rate will mature on
the tenth anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds I,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

If the Convertible Bonds Il have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.
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30. T R B & )

AR ESE=

AR R-_E—MNFMA/=—+MA
—E—NmNFENA=ZF+HEZZT—N
FH+-_A=+t—HHRIUARE 2%
64,000,000/ 7T * 64,000,000/ T
LA }264,000,0007%8 70877 ] #2 f% (& 55
(eEAMEKRES -] BEDH
WiEsETRRESF-_F—Ht - =
HEE=ZH TEERHABKE
FoEBRTAPRAETBEFERE
H o

AkEF T EFTEAER
RETAIBRKRES —_BHETFA
BER A MR ER @R R ANRA
Befn - e BIE /TR I(D0.4078
7T AR R ESHRRRS

i Al piE 27 — R & B - KRBT
FHEFFETBEFERRAEBETIAE
@ o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il «continuea)

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair
values of the liability component were HK$6,622,000,
HK$6,916,000 and HK$7,577,000 for the Convertible Bonds
Il issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August
2014 and 31 December 2014 respectively, which has
been determined by the discounted cash flow approach
using the prevailing market interest rate of similar non-
convertible bonds and taking into account the credit risk
of the Company. The fair values of the conversion option
of HK$131,454,000, HK$118,983,000 and HK$112,597,000
classified as equity component for the Convertible Bonds I
issued by the Company on 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014

AR BTG R T

30. TR B F )

ABRKRES =@
AR ESR B ITETT c ARRIRZ
T—EP[A=+IE —E—mEN
A=+tBE-_ZE—WNF+-_HA=+—H
FTEs TR IR ES N B EIH R F
B4 B 56,622,0005 7T + 6,916,000/
JT 7,577,000/ T ¢ il i ARIRIR &
mEE  MABRLIETTRERESFHIR
ﬁﬁ%ﬂT#E Wt R ARRIZEE
Ak - ARARR-T— m&mﬂ-+m
E —E— EEAH +ER=ZE—
F+-—A=+— E%ﬁZTﬁkﬁ%
THhBEERIsBRIRE L AFED
5 131,454,000 7T - 118,983,000/%

and 31 December 2014 respectively were calculated using Al Tt
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: 7T & 112,597,000 7T » JhiFE @ —IE R

BAFE - ZRANGALT:

24 April 2014 30 August 2014 31 December 2014

“E-MmE “E-|F “E-NE§

MA=+MmA NR=+H +=A=+-—H

Principal amount  Principal amount Principal amount

of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000 of HK$64,000,000

PN X xeE biNc R ]

64,000,0007% 7T 64,000,0007% T 64,000,0007% 7T

Stock price BB HK$1.42 HK$1.19 HK$1.16
1,428 7T 119% T 11658 7T

Exercise price e HK$0.40 HK$0.40 HK$0.40
0408 T 0408 T 0408 T

Discount rate EE fﬁ x 25.46% 24.92% 23.78%
Risk-free rate (note a) bz 1 2% (Bff 3t a) 2.20% 1.84% 1.85%
Expected volatility (note b) TE ,Hﬂ /&" 18 (Pff 3% b) 84.57% 82.53% 80.79%
Expected dividend yield (note ¢) ~ FEERAR 2 U35 R (M 55 c) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

BAMAz TE2H ABIRELEM

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will

result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. FE o HE @Zﬁfx WMo AFEZEE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair g - HAEREBOATEMABES
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ &R *“BﬁEA§$ B EHAT ©

best estimate.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

142

Convertible Bonds Il continuea)
Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none
of the Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond Il
for the year is set out below:

30. IR EFH o)
B;H’*‘H“E% ()
at

@ ZANEXDISERNHERREERFES
N JEE 75 O UK R R E o

() ERNEFBEARFNBEBRKIE

© BREAXANBERSIKMSGEFSE -

BE “EER_FT-NF=A
=t EIJJ:EJ* I?ﬁi‘ﬁ@ﬂxﬁ%:
B ARNAE B -

FARBRKRESF —2BEHRIZ2EH
FIE T

Principal Carrying
amount amount
¥R REE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
As at 1 April 2018 RZZT—N\EMA—H 192,000 46,662
Effective interest expenses BERMNEXZH — 11,633
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=-_ZE—hLF=A=+—H
—“E—-NFW™A—H 192,000 58,195
Effective interest expenses ERAMEXZH — 8,526
Deemed early redemption of BIERFEBERABEKRES
convertible bonds (152,400) (52,358)
As at 31 March 2020 R-_EBE-_FEF=A=+—H 39,600 14,363
Convertible Bonds Il AR ES=
The Company issued convertible bonds to its associate, KA ER—_ZE—NELA=-+NH

Extrawell, in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$715,000,000 on 28 July 2014 (collectively referred to
as “Convertible Bonds IlI”) as part of the consideration
paid to acquire of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent. The
Convertible Bonds Il with coupon rate of 3.5% per annum
will mature on the seventh anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Ill entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
7 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds lll,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$2.50, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

17K % #4858 A715,000,00078 T 2
AMlRES(ARIAIBRERES=D T
HEtE ARIBE ERSH»HTWE
EAES1%REZRE - JBRRES=
ZEBEEBRAE3L% - WHEREITH
HRRsrE-RAFEEARE -

AMEESF =BT EFRFEAER
RETABRKRES AR LFER
BERBIMEREF=—8RRARQA
iy - M BIE KT RAH2.50/8
T AR REHRRRE
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds Il continued)

If the Convertible Bonds Il has not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the seventh anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds Il are issued in HK$. The fair value
of the liability component was HK$233,547,000 for the
Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28 July
2014, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$136,646,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds Il issued by the Company on 28
July 2014 was calculated using Binomial Model. The inputs
into the model were as follows:

Stock price I B
Exercise price TR (E

Discount rate g

Risk-free rate (note a) = [ b FI K
Expected volatility (note b)
Expected dividend yield (note c) TE HA R B

AR BTG R T

30. TR B F )

ABKRESFE=»
WAl EHR = REE®R - Bl R
FTHHRRHECtRETERZEET
LABEE] o

AR ESRZIABILEIT - XA
RZE—NFE+L /S _+NHETZ
AR ESF=—MAEHT»AFE
#5233,547,0007%8 7T * ThE B AL IE
AR ESFMRITM IS N EKZEER
iﬁaﬂ%ﬁi%i@ﬁ&ﬁ&%&ﬂ
NEERR ARa R _ZT—MN4F
+t A= +J\H§%"Zﬁf%ﬁﬂﬁf§%z
NEAEEGBOIVRBREZATES
136646000/’%75 B ZEAE
NetE - ZEXAMBALT :

28 July 2014
—E-—MEF
+tA=+N\AH
Principal

amount of
HK$715,000,000
L8
715,000,000 7T

HK$1.27
1.2778 7T
HK$2.50
2.50% 7T

24.67%

13Fa) 1.63%
78 89 O% & (B 5k b)
2 = (BT 5T e) 0.00%

80.04%

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component.
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of the liability component are based on the directors’
best estimate.

Notes:

() The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(¢) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

BT 2 B A B R A AT
28 SRRAEBI DT ARLE
ft- HEREHH AFEMPES
B VR P B 0 B B

@ BAMEXD2ERHEERREBRFES
RoJEE 25 0O U 55 R E o
(b) EREFHBARFNBEERRE -

©  IREEADE IR B (A S 4 -
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

144

Convertible Bonds Il continued)

On 28 October 2019, the Company completed the
amendment of the term and condition of the Convertible
Bond Il with Extrawell. Under the amendment, Extrawell
agreed the due date for annual interest payment of
HK$25,025,000 due on 27 July 2019, 2020 and 2021
amended to on or before 28 July 2021; and additional
interest of HK$11,261,250 shall be paid by the Company
on 28 July 2021. Detail of the amendments of the term
and condition of the Convertible Bond Il are set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 13 September 2019.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none
of the Convertible Bonds Il was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
[l for the year is set out below:

30. T R B & )
BEREHE=w
RZZBE—AEFE+A=-+/N\B ARQF
A EBEESE] AR ESH = WIER
KAt - BIBER] - BHEREBRZ
T-NGF ZEZEFRT=—F
tﬂ—+taﬂﬂfﬁm%0%ow
BB FERNBMNREBANKA
——F+ A+ N\HBEZA: &ZIS
RIER-_E-_—F+ A+ NBXfM
%8 NFI) 811,261,250 7T © (£ 5] Al

BARZ = R R IR 2 B R N AR
AARA-—ZT-NAFALA+=BZE
\i‘ o

BE-_Z-_ZTFE_F—NF=A
—t+—HIEFE TEATBRES=
AR =W NN TR S G

FABRKRESF=2BEHRIZ2EH
plE

Principal Carrying

amount amount

¥ NG REE

HK$'000 HK$’000

FAT FAT

As at 1 April 2018 R-E—N\FEHA— 715,000 397,529

Effective interest expense ERMNEMAX - 89,180

Interest expense paid BEXAHERE - (25,025)

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R —Z— AL F=F=+—H

K—_Z—NFMHHA—H 715,000 461,684

Interest expense paid B ERAZ — 106,418

Modification of convertible bonds BRI E S — 27,749

As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-FEF=A=+—H 715,000 595,851
Convertible Bonds IV g ESM

The Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$64,000,000 on 30 April 2015
(collectively referred to as “Convertible Bonds IV”) for the
acquisition of Sale CB-IlI fourth batch. The Convertible
Bonds IV with zero coupon rate will mature on the tenth
anniversary of the date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV entitle the bond holders to
convert them into shares of the Company at any time within
10 years from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds 1V,
at the initial conversion price per share of HK$0.40, subject
to anti-dilution clauses.

RARARER-_ZE-—HFOA=1+H%
174N & #8258 /364,000,000/% JT 2 7] #
BES (AR RRESE]) AR
BEOHGETREESR - - TRE
TE’JTT‘*‘Hxﬁ#EHﬁG%?TEﬂﬂt.ﬁr
ETHEFEBRIH -

AR BB 5 PO B T (B 5 1A AR

RETARRESFHARR+FA

BE B A5 AT R BB 55 D S 3 KR )

Hx@ VIR E R E RSB RAD0.40/8
AR REEIRRRS) o

\\
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)

Convertible Bonds IV (continued)

If the Convertible Bonds IV have not been converted, they
will be redeemed at par on the tenth anniversary of the
date of issue.

The Convertible Bonds IV are issued in HK$. The fair
value of the liability component was HK$7,790,000 for the
Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30 April
2015, which has been determined by the discounted cash
flow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the
credit risk of the Company. The fair value of the conversion
option of HK$109,371,000 classified as equity component
for the Convertible Bonds IV issued by the Company on 30
April 2015 was calculated using Binomial Model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Stock price I B

1THE(E

Exercise price

gL =

Discount rate
Risk-free rate (note a)

AR BTG R T

30. TR B F )

AR ES N

AT R (E 5 PO R g s 4 - Al g8 A 2%
THEREETAFTFERLRERMET
LABEE] o

AR EHUAB LT c AAER
—E—RFMNAZTHBETZAIBRRE
H R BEIRD A FE A7,790,000
BT DERBECETRRESMNER
TMGAEIRMBARESREEETE -
WEFFEARFNEERR - XAF
RZE—RAFNA=ZF+HZETZA B
BREFMUDERERIBOBRREZQ
F{& £109,371,0007 7T © JhER A =18
NEXFE o

ZEAMmBAMT

30 April 2015
—E-—EF
mA=+H

Principal

amount of
HK$64,000,000
L8
64,000,000 T

HK$1.16
11678 7T
HK$0.40
0.40/%8 7T

23.44%

78 890 & (BT 5E b 79.49%
T8 HA AR Bk %5 & (fi 5Ec) 0.00%

Expected volatility (note b)

= 3 b A & (B 5 a) 1.48%
itb)
Expected dividend yield (note c) < (

Any changes in the major inputs used in the model will RAFMBZEEGARBELETEM
result in changes in the fair value of the liability component. H@J ?I ﬁ@lﬁ D AT EHEEE
The variables and assumptions used in calculating the fair - HBEBRIMBPAFEMAEE
value of the liability component are based on the directors’ BREDERESHREMGT -

best estimate.
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continueq)
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Convertible Bonds IV continuea)
Notes:

(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong
government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of the Company over the past
bond period.

(c) Estimated by reference to the historical dividend payout of the
Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none
of the Convertible Bonds IV was converted into ordinary
shares of the Company.

The movement of liability component of Convertible Bond
IV for the year is set out below:

30. T R B & )

R ESHE M)
B 5 -

@ ZANEXDISERNHERREERFES
N JEE 75 O UK R R E o

() ERNEFBEARFNBEBRKIE

© BREAXANBERSIKMSGEFSE -

BHE “EERT-NF=A
=t EIJJ:EJ* A 4 Al #2 i 1E 55 Y
WEBRBRAREBK -

FARBRREFNzBERIZEH
FIE T

Principal Carrying

amount amount

K& 5 REE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T FA& T

As at 1 April 2018 R-ZT—N\FmA—A 64,000 14,402

Effective interest expense B ERX — 3,373
As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=-_ZE—hLF=A=+—H

—E-NFMA—AH 64,000 17,775

Effective interest expense EBRAEAX — 4,176

As at 31 March 2020 R-_E-_FEF=A=+—H 64,000 21,951
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA&
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&xT TH& T
Authorised: ETE
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares 50,000,000,000/% & & E &
of HK$0.01 each 0.01B T2 EBR 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREHRE:
1,464,193,024 ordinary shares 1,464,193,024 /% T X E &
of HK$0.01 each 0018 Tz EBI 14,642 14,642
As at 31 March 2020, the maximum number of shares RZE-EF=—A=1+—H £EH
issuable upon conversion of all outstanding convertible FIBEARRIEEITZARITEZA
bonds issued by the Company is 1,185,000,000 (2019: MREHFBZATETRSRMDEK
1,805,000,000). H /A1,185,000,000% (=& — L F:

1,805,000,0004% ) °
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND

148

LITIGATION

Litigation concerning CNL (Pinghu) in the PRC
On 17 April 2012, a writ of summons was issued by ;I %k
I & 2 3% £ 8 A R A A (Jiangsu Ruifeng Construction
Group Co., Limited) (“Jiangsu Ruifeng”) in the PRC as
the plaintiff against CNL (Pinghu), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, as the defendant in
relation to the disputes arising from the consideration and
completion of construction services under the construction
contracting services agreement dated 8 October 2010, the
construction agreement dated 17 December 2010 and the
supplemental agreement dated 8 March 2011 (collectively
referred to as the “Construction Agreements”) entered
into between CNL (Pinghu) and Jiangsu Ruifeng, to claim
the outstanding construction cost of RMB13,150,000, the
related interests and litigation costs of the case. Pursuant to
the Construction Agreements, the total construction costs
was RMB16,675,000. Jiangsu Ruifeng had issued invoices
amounting to RMB29,126,000 in relation to the construction
work they performed. The aggregated invoice amount was
substantially different from the contracted amount. CNL
(Pinghu) only settled the amount of RMB16,601,000 and
was recorded as the cost of buildings as at 30 June 2012.
On 24 April 2012, Jiangsu Ruifeng obtained a civil ruling
against CNL (Pinghu), pursuant to which a bank deposit
of RMB15,000,000 or equivalent amount of assets of CNL
(Pinghu) were to be frozen, but the actual amount frozen was
HK$222,000 as at 30 June 2012, which was significantly
lower than the amount stated in the civil ruling. The frozen
balance was released during the year ended 30 June
2013. On 14 January 2013, an independent construction
consulting company, which was appointed by Pinghu District
Court, issued a statement certifying the total construction
cost incurred would be in a range between RMB15,093,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$19,142,000) and
RMB18,766,000 (equivalent to HK$23,801,000). According
to the relevant legal opinion dated on 29 July 2013, the
possibility for Pinghu District Court for adopting the
construction cost of RMB18,766,000 is higher. On 20
December 2013, the # T4 F# ™ A R A FT (People’s
Court of Pinghu City, Zhejiang Province) delivered a further
civil ruling, pursuant to which, CNL (Pinghu) shall, after the
said civil ruling came into force, pay to Jiangsu Ruifeng,
among other things, a fee of RMB3,309,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$4,197,000) for the construction services
rendered. CNL (Pinghu) filed an application to appeal to T
TERB TR A RAEBR (the Intermediate People’s Court
of Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province). On 25 April 2014, 3T
EREHAPRARER (the Intermediate People’s Court
of Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province) upheld the original ruling
of HITEFMMARER (People’s Court of Pinghu City,
Zhejiang Province) and the Company was required to pay
approximately RMB4,223,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,333,000) to Jiangsu Ruifeng. Total provision has been
made by the Group in this regard since 31 March 2014.
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Ak ABRB BB E ) 82T R
BER—ZT—-TF+ANHF L ZES
ARG HE R_E—ZFF+_-A
+tHHFIYzEEREAN T ——
FZANBRIML 2@ HE(GmEIE
EWEDBETZREERTKEZERS
Fral#e 2 S sk @ VL& I I8 [A) P far (OF
) = E A R#13,150,0007T 2 & X+
EIERIE - BB E REHZFAK
Ko RIEZEMZE  BEEAKEAAA
R #16,675,0007T ° jL &k im & gt B #E1T
CERETRERRE 2EAARE
29,126,0007T ° EEABES NS FE L
BEAZERE AHCEHEIMNAR
#16,601,0007T * WA -ZE——F XA
T HRESEEREKREK R —=
FAZ+WMAE - Tk IE 2 IS &
HohEm(FRZREETE  Hit -
far (F#) 2 RITER AR #15,000,000
THRERESBEZEERBRE  HER
—E-——HFXA=1+H WEGLZE
X 4 58 222,000 T 0 B oA g R R
REHEMY 2 &5 - WRELHN
HE-_Z— = A=Z=1tHILFEMR
ReRN—TE—=F—A+WTA - —HB
N RBEBER AR EFLHEARET
BB ERRETREEAR
KN FA R #15,093,0007T (FHE R4
19,142,000/% 7T ) £2 A R #18,766,0007T
(#H & 723,801,000 Jt) 2 [ - B &
FEBERAR-E—=FtA=-+NH
MER  FHEEABRMEERAA
R#18,766,0007CH AT RE 18X /=) » A
TE—=F+-A=+H"  HTEAFLH
MARZEZRZELE—FPREHT &
it R CER) AR R BT A KA
[T & I I8 S (KA B 48) 5t AT e i
B2 RS 2 B A R #53,309,0007T
(FRER#14,197,000587T) » R (F#)
T TEAZETHRRAREREARS
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EEETHRRARERESINIEF
WA RER 2 RRHAR - AR A
7B [E)T &k I I S 49 A R 64,223,000
7t (FEE M 495,333,000/ 7T)  ANEE
AR E-NE=ZA=1+—B#Ext
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 2. FAREERFRw
LlTIGATION (Continued)
Litigation concerning CNL (Pinghu) in the PRC RABEEBRE (M) Z2FR @
(Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Company had REBEZE_T-—RAF=A=1+—HILHF
received payment notice of approximately RMB2,897,000 E ARAEEENRBAORES
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,660,000) and settled & B4 AR 2,897,000t (1HE R4
accordingly. 3,660,000/ 7T) °
Since then, the Company did not receive any payment Bt - AARWEEBETIHIKERHA
notice of the remaining amount of RMB1,326,000 R #1,326,0007T (48 & 7 491,649,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,649,000) from Jiangsu UL Z RN RBA o AR E R
Ruifeng and therefore no payment was made by the ( E T -TF=-A=+—HIEFE
Company during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil). WEMR(ZE—NF ],
33. COMMITMENTS 33. & &
Operating lease commitments REHERE
As at 31 March 2020, the total future minimum lease R-ZZBE_ZTF=A=+—H 1~5%5E
payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating KA HESEHE T cHEREMR
leases are payable as follows: ERBRENAT:

2019
ZE-hF

HK$’000
FTRET

Future aggregate minimum lease payments under RIEMRE T MIEFZ
operating leases in respect of leasehold land and & & X 2 & K

buildings XEHERBRTE
— within one year - —FR 1,168
— in the second to fifth years inclusive —F_FFRF
(BEEEMSF) 84
1,252
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHENRIERASERESE THA
Group for certain of its offices, laboratory and staff quarter. E BEREMBEIFEEMNZES o
Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to three HMEHRBEANT —ZE=F(=ZF
years (2018: one year to three years) and rentals are fixed —NF:—FE2=F) FHaRHEE
over the lease terms and the above amounts do not include HIRETE - B Ll IETeE AR
contingent rentals. & o
Capital commitments BAREIE
As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the Group has NR-E-FEF=A=+—RANE-_F—Ah
no capital commitment contracted but not provided for. FZA=+—H AEBEHBEDITY

BRB 2 EAREE -
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34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

35

150

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group and each
employee employed in Hong Kong are required to make
a contribution of 5% on the employees’ monthly relevant
income with a maximum monthly contribution of HK$1,500
per person.

The PRC employees of the Group are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute a specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Dr. Mao and Dr. Xie have beneficial non-controlling interest
in the shares of the Company. In addition, they have
joint control of a company which has shareholding of the
Company giving it significant influence over the Company.
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has entered into the
following related party transactions:

Service fee expense paid and ENEENTARA
payable to Dr. Mao, a shareholder BREBFELZ

35.

BIKEFEE
AEBAPEEEFLERESRILRA
FIENTEETE - ZFB2EES
B ETAENZESHAERZ
BEIHER AEBMEEREEE
EREBYEREEBABHNRAZ
E;M?Efﬁ CZAH ERA® A1,500
/B 7L °

AEEHREEERE RN EEY
B2 RABEMAEZKE - REBEA
BREBZHENAWIEEA D LR
RERNERRE IS R
MZBEE - AEBERZEKE NG
S TzE—BEERELFTEMRN -

BBEALRXS
EETRHETRALTRDNES
I RRAE R o B WEHRE
) — R A AN IR AR A D T
BEEAYEHT AT - BEANBER
FHMEHRBEEEN  AEEDHE
TNTHEATRS:

2020
—g-%fF

e

2019
—ZE—NF
HK$’000
FB T

HK$’000
FER

of the Company (Note i) AR 7% B 5 2 (M9 5E0) 672 672
Loan from Dr. Mao, a substantial REARRGB —UEERE
shareholder of the Company (Note i)  FE1# 4 2 & 3% (M 5%ii) 7,000 25,000
7,672 25,672
Key management compensation: FTEEBRE 2R
Short-term employee benefits HHEB /M 3,158 3,158
Post-employment benefits BEIY 12148 7 46 54
3,204 3,212

Notes:

(i) This transaction constitutes continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is exempted from the
reporting and disclosure requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of
the Listing Rules.

(ii) The loan from a shareholder is unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayment on demand (2019: repayment term was three years after

drawdown date).
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36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 36. XARKEB AR 1E
OF THE COMPANY

Lucky Full Holdings Limited
fEmERERAR

Clear Rich International Limited
RERRARAA

China United Gene Health
Limited

Mega Fortune Corporation
Limited

First Team Limited

Multi-Wealth Investment Limited

Able Earn Investment Limited

BEREBRAH

Top Nice Holdings Limited

BERAR

jesll]

o

ERg

ONL (Pinghu) (Note a)

s (F40) (B i)

Mega Cedar Group Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration
AMmEL/
ot fit i 5

British Virgin
Islands

AEEBRES

British Virgin
Islands

AREARES

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
B

PRC

B

British Virgin
Islands

AEEAREE

Place of
operation

EEHE

British Virgin
Islands

REABRES

British Virgin
Islands

ARAARES

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong

R

hE

British Virgin
Islands

RRARRES

Registered/issued
paid-up capital

it/ BRTHZRA

USS$1 ordinary share
IXTERR
USS1 ordinary share
1ZTEBR

HK$1 ordinary share

TBTEER

HK$1 ordinary share
1ELLER

HK$1 ordinary share
AT EBR

HKS$1 ordinary share
1ELLER

HK$1 ordinary share
AT EBR

HK$1 ordinary share
TETERK

US$20 million registered
capital

20,000000% it A

USS1 ordinary share

ETERRK

Directly

Percentage of ownership interest/voting power

BEERE/REEZEAM

2020
= =
Indirectly

=3 3

100% -

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 70%

100%

20204F R

Principal
activities

TEXRH
2019

nE
Indlirectly

f%

Investment holding

- 100%  Investment holding

REZR
- 100%  Trading of beauty
equipment and
products
FR%ERERES

- 100%  Investment holding

RERRK
- 100%  Investment holding
REER

- 100%  Investment holding

RERR
- 100%  Investment holding
REER
- 100%  Securities
investment

EHRE
- 70%  Distribution of
bio-industrial
products
PEENERER
- 100%  Investment
holding and
securities
investment
REBRRER
&
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36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 36. XARMBARIFEw®
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of Registered/issued Principal
registration operation paid-up capital Percentage of ownership interest/voting power activities
AMmEL/

& i 2 EELY T/ ERTHERA REBRE/RERZEAM FTEEH

2020 2019
= ZE0E
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
Ef A& X &

Perfect Net Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
EELERES EBEAREE 1ETLER RERRK
New Wonder Limited British Virgin British Virgin USS1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
RELARES HBABREE 1ELLBR REAZK
Rankup Holdings Limited British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
REEMREE EBARRER 1ELLER REAZKR
Marvel Wonder Global Limited ~ British Virgin British Virgin US$1 ordinary share - 100% - 100%  Investment
Islands Islands holding
EELERES EBERRER 1ENLER RERRK
East Longmark (Note b) PRC PRC HK$28 million - 100% - 100%  Provision of
registered capital genetic testing
services
RER (WD) hE ik 28,000,000/ ¢ RUEERHF RS
HMER
Shanghai Honglian Investment ~ PRC PRC HK$3.5 million - 100% - 100%  Inactive
Advisory Limited (Note ¢) registered capital
LELEREFDERAA  TE HE 3,500,000 ¢ FEE
(fit3£c) HMER
Shanghai Xizhen International ~ PRC PRC HKS3 million registered - 100% - 100%  Inactive
Trading Limited (Note d) capital
FEREARESERAR  PE HE 3,000,000 EE
i) HMER
Smart Ascent (Note e) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 ordinary - 51% - 51%  Investment
shares holding
EE ([ Te) Bk B 10,0007 70 & i & REAZK
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36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 36. XARIMBARIFEw®
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation/  Place of
registration operation
o it i 2 EENHY

Registered/issued Principal
paid-up capital Percentage of ownership interest/voting power activities

REEREL /REBZESM TEXRH
2020
g g 33 nE
Directly Indirectly Indlirectly
Ef A& % %

it/ BRTHZRA

Fosse Bio (Note €) Hong Kong PRC HK$100,000 ordinary - 26.01% — 3079%  Development and
shares commercialisation
of oral insulin
products
ftt (Bste) i il 100,000 T & 8 UEY Al
REZER
Welly Surplus (Note ) Hong Kong PRC HK$100 ordinary shares - 26.01% — 8079% Inactive
& (Mste) B ki 10078 7% i & FER
Nation Joy Industries Limited ~ British Virgin British Virgin UUS$10,000 ordinary - 51% —  60.38% Inactive
(Note ¢) Islands Islands shares
ENEZERAA (Hite) AEEAREE EBAARES 10000XTEBR FER
Notes: Bﬁ EE .
(@  CNL (Pinghu) is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in @@ HEEHAR-ZTN\EFENA_BES

the PRC on 2 April 2008 for a period of fifty years. Bz zEEERE BBA+TF -

(b)  East Longmark is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in by =HERANR-Z——F+—A=-+WTH
the PRC on 24 November 2011 for a period of thirty years. EHRBERIZIEEZELE B =1

F o
()  Shanghai Honglian Investment Advisory Limited is a wholly foreign- © EHELEREZAERRAARNRE

—HF A+ ARNBEPEKILZINE
2EME REM=TF-

owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 January 2015 for a
period of thirty years.

(d) Shanghai Xizhen International Trading Limited is a wholly foreign- (d) FEEERBESERAA AR ST
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 26 December 2014 for —mFE+Z A=+ NBERBEK LI
a period of thirty years. HMEELE RE=1TF-

(e) These companies became subsidiaries of the Company upon (e) HEARER-_ZE—NFELA=-+N\H
completion of Acquisition on 28 July 2014. ZHBEBEKEREBART ZHB AR -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affect the financial results of the year or formed
a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

RAFREERR  LREBRYEASE
EARAFEZVBXERERTEL
BREEFEIZNDZMEAR -
MR HEEMHB AR ZHE  EF
ARSEEREBNITER -
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36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

154

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or any time during the
year.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

Proportion of

ownership

Place of incorporation interests held
and principal place of by non-controlling

Name of subsidiary business interests

A AL K FEREEFEEZ
WEAREE FTEEEHY BaEEE LA

2020

2019

6. X T B AR FHE B

PAZREF [ 5T 4% IR X5 A ] A ] b st
Mﬂ% A ETARER 2BEBE

ﬁ]“r

TRANAEE R ERIFIERE
BmZHFEEHBAR

Loss and other

comprehensive loss

allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling non-controlling
interests interests

TEFEERRER

ZEEREM2ZEESR R FERES

2020 2019 2020 2019

Smart Ascent (Note) Hong Kong 49% 49%
# A (I 5E) e

Fosse Bio (Note) Hong Kong/PRC 73.99% 69.21%
2t (Fff &T) B/ HHE

CNL (Pinghu) PRC 30% 30%
EP 1r] ( /ﬁﬂ) EF

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-controlling

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$’OOO

BT BT BT TR

(267) 4,487 (2,302) (2,035)

(9,757) (1,745) 957,558 867,593

914)  (3,380) 3,376 4,290

interests (408) (1) (486) (79)
BHEEERER
BRIEE KN ﬁ%
(11,346) (639) 958,146 869,769

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
IRE BT RARMIFE

36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 36. XARIMBARIFEw®

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

ERAEBEARERFERERD
fEBARIMMEERBREN T -
TXHEMBERAMEZIEER
NS RTEORA

SAL Group EE K
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Current assets mEEE 7,220 2.671
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,373,657 1,373,224
Current liabilities mB) A& (46,319) (46,020)
Non-current liabilities EREBE (39,298) (20,243)
Equity attributable to owners ZIN/NCIEF N
of the Company FEAb HE == 340,490 444 153
Non-controlling interests eI IR B = 954,770 865,479
Revenue I &= - 1,787
Expenses (-3 (14,375) (1,642)
Loss and total comprehensive FABEBELREE
expense for the year X A58 (14,375) 145
Loss and total comprehensive BEEEEAMRAX
expense attributable to BMEHB
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIE =N 3,943 74
Non-controlling interests I 20 i #E = 10,432 71
14,375 145
Net cash outflow REEEE 2
from operating activities WE M FE - —

There are no net cash flows from investing and financing

activities.

RECBMERDABELR SR F

B ©
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36. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES 36. XARMBARIFEw®
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

CNL (Pinghu) o far ()
2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T T
Current assets mEEE 1,073 6,141
Non-current assets EMBEE - —
Current liabilities RBAE (2,337) (4,767)
Non-current liabilities EmBatE - —

Equity attributable to owners of the ARAREBEANEGER

Company (3,048) (2,884)
Non-controlling interests FEIZ IR B = 3,376 4,290
Other income H b g A 3 204
Expenses 3 (3,048) (11,470)

Loss and total comprehensive expense “F A &5 18 [
for the year 2HAS B (3,045) (11,266)

Loss and total comprehensive expense &5 18 & % E {1 52

attributable to RERB

Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIE =N (2,131) (7,886)

Non-controlling interests FEVE R A 2 (914) (3,380)

(3,045) (11,266)

Net cash outflow from operating REEEFE 2

activities WE ML FE - —
Net cash inflow from RIEEEE 2

investing activities WemAFRE - —
There are no cash flows from investing and financing HELBMERHTBELER SR
activities.
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37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY

AN
el

37. KRR 2 M B EH

5 R P R

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mk - BENMRE 35 95
Interests in associates N AN Ok - 48,954
Investment in subsidiary REBERRMNIRE - —
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,000
Investments in convertible bonds ARREHFRE - 111,942
3,035 160,991
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other B IE &R
receivables H 4t fE U R IR 560 590
Amounts due from group companies & YR & B2 F] 2 5K 1B 367,992 359,501
Bank balances and cash IRITHE B NIR S 11,891 3,884
380,443 363,975
Current liabilities mEBE
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,974 —
Accruals and other payables FEET B A & EAth & B 1,225 1,104
Loan from shareholder IR E R 7,000 —
10,199 1,104
Net current assets MBEEFE 370,244 362,871
Total asset less current liabilities BEERLDEE 373,279 523,862
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE
Convertible bonds Al R 1B & 743,142 658,632
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,026 —
Loans from a shareholder —fIIRRE K - 25,000
Total non-current liabilities B aERaE 744,168 683,632
Net liabilities BEFE (370,889) (159,770)
Capital and reserves BARN G
Share capital Ji% 7 14,642 14,642
Reserves B (385,531) (174,412)
Total equity iy R (370,889) (159,770)
The financial statements were approved by the Board of VBRERECHAETERN T _ZF X
Directors on 29 June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: AZ+B# & YHUTEEREK
#E:
Jiang Nian Tang Rong
BEF =
D/E’EC TOR D//?EC TOR
EF EF
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37. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 37. AR Az U BE R =
COM PANY (Continued)
Reserve of the Company KRR 2i#E
Convertible
Share equity Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
g
B 12 % B EEREE REtE B #st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAL FHBT
As at 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\%F
MmA—H 1,119,294 1,152,862 (2,180,689) 91,467
Loss and total comprehensive FREE M 2 H T
expense for the year B — — (265,879) (265,879)
As at 31 March 2019 and RZZT—NF
1 April 2019 ZA=t+—-8k
—T-NEF
mA—RH 1,119,294 1,152,862  (2,446,568) (174,412)
Loss and total comprehensive £ A& 18 & 2 E I X
expense for the year B - — (204,942) (204,942)
Deemed early redemption of 18 {EIE R E[E
convertible bonds ABRRES — (440,824) 434 647 6,177)
Modification of convertible BB R E S
bonds — (136,646) 136,646 —
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-ZFF
=A=+-8 1,119,294 575,392  (2,080,217) (385,531)
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. &M T H
Categories of financial instruments SRt T HEER
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Financial assets tMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL R FEGAEDZ
Investment in convertible bonds AR EHFEE - 111,942
Trade receivables =0y 15,608 21,176
Deposits and other receivables & kA th & W K18 3,642 6,259
Bank balances and cash RITHEBNIRS 22,936 17,058
Total HEt 42,186 156,435
Financial liabilities at amortised cost — JZE#H K Xk G B &
Convertible bonds A # IR E 25 743,142 658,632
Trade payables B 5 ENRN 10,253 21,214
Accruals and other payables FEETE AR B EN IR 5,140 7,273
Amounts due to non-controlling JE 5 IE 28 A% #E 25 FN A
interests 3,092 3,092
Loans from a non-controlling interest R B JE#E I #E 28 B X 20,929 20,929
Amounts due to former JE 155 AT 3E ¥ AR 8 2= IR
non-controlling interests 823 823
Amount due to a former associate FET R B & R A RIB 41,947 41,952
Loan from a substiantial shareholder ~— {7+ &R R E % 7,000 25,000
Loan from an associate REWE R EX 15,383 5,027
Total HEt 847,709 783,942
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

160

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
investments in convertible bonds, financial assets
held-for-trading, trade receivables, other receivables, bank
balances, loans from/(to) non-controlling interests, trade
payables, other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
interests, amounts due to former non-controlling interests,
loan from a substantial shareholder, Loan from a former
associate and convertible bonds. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk primarily relate
to convertible bonds held by the Group and the liability
component of convertible bonds issued by the Company
as set out in notes 19 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Price risk on investments in convertible bonds held by the
Group

The Group is required to estimate the fair value of the
investments in convertible bonds held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period with changes in fair value to
be recognised in profit or loss as long as the convertible
bonds are outstanding. The fair value adjustment will be
affected either positively or negatively, amongst others,
by the changes in share price and its volatility of the
convertible bonds issuer.

Price risk on investment funds held by the Group

The Group is required to estimate the fair value of the
investment funds held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period with changes in fair value to be recognised
in profit or loss as long as the investment funds are
outstanding. The fair value adjustment will be affected
either positively or negatively, amongst others, by the
changes in share prices of the funds.

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

38.&@ T A

HEREBEEEERBEX

AEBEZFESRTARFEARKRE
FRE RHUEERMEE  HBIHEK
BRA - Hf UG - RITHERR ~ 2R
B/ (R)FEERERER  BEHENM
BRAK - HM BRI SRIR - BT SRR AR
IR~ AR RS R - —
NEBRRER  REMBLEARE
AR ES ZFEMTAZAF
BRARMENE - BZEE@MTA
ERZEREBENXAR FER
B loREE Ak - A RN AI AR R
ZERBOBREIIN T - BEEE
B3R I B AR A% T A B DA B R BT B Ko
B RIS R] & @A R IE

™ 5 & B

T % J7 B
AEEZzAFEMNEREREZRAE
BEBA A BRESIARBDET
ZABRBEEScAEROAR - 25l
AR B B R MY FE19/%30 -

PEEFHZAIRKESFKEZ EE
/7 B2
AEBEARBEPRGBFARERF
BZABBREFRENAFE  RE
AMRESFEARLE - R EZEE
REZANER - R FEABREX(H
FRB)AIBRREFETAZRER
PLERBENEMLBAERZE -

AEEFGFEZRERE T ZEEEE
AEEARBERREAAREFTA
BREESZAVE MRABRERES
HAEE A FEEFHENER
NIER - R FERABHZ (AT )
HehEZEH7 IMHAAATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (Continuea)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to the change of share price and
its volatility of the convertible bonds issuer at the reporting
date.

As at 31 March 2019, the share prices of the convertible
bonds issuer had been 5% higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group‘s post-tax loss for
the year would be decreased/increased by HK$4,161,000/
HK$4,020,000, as a result of changes in fair value of
investments in convertible bonds held by the Group.

As at 31 March 2019, the volatility of share prices of
the convertible bonds issuer had been 5% higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax loss for the year would be decreased/increased
by HK$4,321,000/HK$5,083,000, as a result of changes in
fair value of investments in convertible bonds held by the
Group.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analyses are
unrepresentative of the inherent market risk as the pricing
model used in the fair value valuation of the conversion
options embedded in the convertible bonds involves
multiple variables and certain variables are interdependent.

ARa SRR

38.&@ T A

BERREEAERBEE®

™5 E k)

SR ST

T ERE DT TIREBEA R ES
BT ARIRE D HFTE A (EE
MEHFEEE -

MR-ZE—-hhFE=A=1+—08 {7k
BEHFZEITANBRE LA THE5%
BFEHMAIERERITTE  RF
A ANEEFEBESR 44,161,000
7T,/ 114,020,000 7T * JThE AR
EEEENIBRBREEREZAF
BEEBK -

R-E-NE=A=+—0 Kk
M EHIEITAZRERIE LA TR’
5% - MATA St ERETE - NE
A AREE R EE 5 44,321,000
7T,/ 115,083,000 7T T RA
EEEENIBRBREEREZAF
BER BT -

EBERA  HARATEARES
B A T A BT R B
BRSESBTE TS BAL KA -
Rt - GO 5 TR B R IR E S T8
m% -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

162

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
investments in convertible bonds, loan to a non-controlling
interest, amount due from the subsidiary of an associate,
trade and other receivables and bank balances for current
period and prior year.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The investments in convertible bonds as at 31 March
2020 expose the Group to concentration of credit risk. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group assesses the
financial position and performance of the issuer of the
convertible bonds of carrying amount of HK$nil (2019:
HK$111,942,000) and in view of sufficient net asset and
significant bank balance and cash of the issuer, the
management considers the default risk on the investments
in convertible bonds is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from amounts due from
the subsidiary of an associate and loan to a non-controlling
interest, the management would monitor the financial
position/performance over the associate and the relevant
subsidiary with such non-controlling interests. In this
regard, management considers that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on the Group’s bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, management reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable debts.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (Continuea)

In respect of trade receivables, all sales made to major
customers who have been given short credit terms. These
credit evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. The average credit period granted
to the customers was 90 days (2019: 30 to 90 days). As at
31 March 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was concentrated on two (2019: two) customers. The
Group will make specific provision for those balances
which cannot be recovered. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from customers. In the opinion of the
directors, the default risk faced by the Group is considered
to be low.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position after deducting
any impairment allowance. The Group does not provide
financial guarantee which would expose the Group to credit
risk.

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all accounts receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The following table
provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 March 2020:
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 38. @l T B

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at
31 March 2019

HEREEEEERER @

R-ZE-NF=A=+—-HHNEE
ERkEZEVURARBEERSE

Trade receivables

BEZEWERX
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss amount allowance
FHEE REAE BERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T FET
30 days or less 30B AT - 767 —
31 to 60 days 31260H — 762 —
61 to 90 days 61290H — 1,693 —
Over 90 days B \I0H 5% 17,954 165
5% 21,176 165

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past year. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

The credit quality of other receivables excluding
prepayments has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties default rates
and financial position of the counterparties. The directors
are of the opinion that the credit risk of other receivables is
low due to the sound collection history of the receivables
due from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the
other receivables excluding prepayments is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as of 31 March
2020 and 2019.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. In addition to issuance of new shares, the Group
also relies on convertible bonds as a significant source of
liquidity for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$28,354,000 as at 31 March 2020.

FEHEEBRERNBE " F2ERE
BERTE - iﬁ?‘{%ﬂéf%bxmﬁw
EMEEREEERKGIAR NG
ijf%ﬁ%%"‘l%ﬁ’]mm&ﬁuﬁfliéf

Ha W E B (T REENRKIE)NE
BEEENE2EHRBRGAENER
RGHUEARE S BRI - &
EREEMERRENEERRKE
0 ThER A R MR 1% 55 BN TR A9 IR S B
Rt - Bty - B W KB (T BE
?ﬁﬁﬁ IE)E'JEHM:TJES?D“P‘MHB
BEIRE BHE-_ZE_ZHEK_-F
—ﬂi_ﬂ_‘% B EEri s -

REE SRR
F\EEE//ILEU,éiH E-r KE.@_
B MR EK$Zﬁﬁ&ﬁiﬁﬁ
Y MEBEBRZKERAALAER
CEBREES  UERILBEER
gﬁﬁzgm°ﬂ@§ TEFR
—NEF=ZA=+—RHLEFE B
%ﬁ%hT%'$§lﬁhﬁTW%
{E\%‘f}ﬁﬁumiﬁbéﬁ ZI%X/E

AEEBR-_ZE-_EF=-A=+—HZ
mEN B E R E & E 428,354,000

BT e

INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR BTG R T

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 38. €@ T Hw»
Financial risk management objectives and BEEMEEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESRERE)
The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity TERHAFLAEEZHITESRABE
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the ERBHB(AHEERBH R K
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest B - ZxBEMNEEAEBERN
and principal cash flows. g o
Liquidity risk tables mBE 2 R KX

Carrying
Weighted ~ On demand Total amount at

average  or less than 3 months to 1 year to Over undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 1month  1-3 months 1 year 5 years 5years  cash flows 2019
RZB-0E

RERY A% ZA=t-A

nETHRE  SR-EA -E=@EA =fRE-§ -£2i% BBIE RemELH ZRAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEn TERL ThEn TiEn TR TiEn TiEn

31 March 2020 “Z-ZF=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial FiTEemeR
liabilities
Trade payables BHEMER - 10,253 - - - - 10,253 10,253
Other payables EHEMA - 5,140 - - - - 5,140 5,140
Amount due to non- ERFARERTE
controlling interests - 3,092 - - - - 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former ERAFERESSE
non-controlling
interests - 823 - - - - 823 823
Amount due to a former EfBEA77E
associate - 41,947 - - - - 41,947 41,947
Loan from a non- REHFRRERER
controlling interest - 20,929 - - - - 20,929 20,929
Loan from a substantial —fIEERRER
shareholder - 7,000 - - - - 7,000 7,000
Loan from a former REHE =5
associate - 60 128 552 16,957 - 17,692 15,383
Convertible bonds MakES 20.57 - - - 1,010,363 64,000 1,074,363 743,142
Lease liabilties RERE 5.37 - 511 1,900 1128 - 3,539 3,396
89,244 634 2,452 1,028,448 64,000 1,184,778 851,105
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continveq) 3. €M T H»
Financial risk management objectives and BERABEEEERBE®
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBES R @
Liquidity risk tables (continued) mBE 2 RREX®E)

Weighted  On demand or Total Carrying
average less than 3 months to Tyearto Over  undiscounted amount at

interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flows 31 March 2018

5213
JH-@A -E=Bf =EAZ-F ~FEEF  BALS %
HKS'000 HKS'00 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAR A7 A TAR

31 March 2019 “E-hF=A=1-H
Non-derivative financial FESBAR
liabilities
Trade payables - 21,214 - - - - 21,214 21214
Other payables b - 7,213 - - - - 7,273 7273
Amount due to non- ERFRRERTE
controling interests - 3,092 - - - - 3,092 3,092
Amounts due to former ERAEERERTE
non-controlling
interests - 823 - - - - 823 823
Amount due to the EfBERd/HE
subsidiary of an DEFE
associate - - - - 41,952 - 41,952 41,952
Loan from a non-
controlling interest 26.99 - - - 20,929 - 20,929 20,929
Loan from a shareholder - - - - 25,000 - 25,000 25,000
Loan from a former
associate - 20 41 184 5,763 - 5,998 5,027
Convertible bonds hkES 2197 - - 25,025 1,236,367 256,000 1,617,392 658,632
32,422 41 25,209 1,330,001 256,000 1,643,673 783,942
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 38. €@ T Hw»
Financial risk management objectives and BEEMEEEERBE @
policies (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are BELKEMEERATEFEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis rEEERHEEZLATE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair AEEzETEMEEDIRBREHER
value at the end of the reporting period. The following BERFERFE TR BHEETZ
table gives information about how the fair values of these eI ARAFEZAELHEHZRR
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation FERZHERTREASE) KKk
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair BEBEAFEFEGABZATHEE
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are EHAFEFEN B 2AFELRE
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which BANE—ZEZF=ZF)2EFR -

the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

Relationship of
Significant unobservable
Fair value Valuation technique and key  unobservable inputs to fair
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 March 2019 hierarchy inputs inputs value
RZ2-71E=R=1-H EAAT ATERBANE
tREE PAER AVERRGA HEHSRIEBAYE BRRARE  BOVEZBR
Financial assets held-for- Unlisted investment fund HK$nil ~ Level 2 Inputs, other than quoted prices ~ N/A N/A
trading (2019: HK$nil included within Level 1, that

are observable for the assets,
gither directly or indirectly

REHERHEE FITRERETAT(CE-N R RE-RIBRREN HEE THER @R
£:2%7) TERIAEERENBAYE
Investments in convertible Asssts — HKSnil Level 3 Binomial Model Expected volatility ~ The higher the
bonds classified as (2019: HKS111,942,000) of the share volatility of the
financial asset at FVTPL The fair value is estimated based price  of share price of
in the consolidated on risk free rate for the life of Extrawel, Extrawel, the
statement of financial the option and share price determined by higher the fair
position (from observable market reference to value. (Note)
data), expected volatility of the historical
the share price of Extrawell share price of
and expected dividend yield Extrawel.
on the shares and exercise
price.
REREBRRKNIERE EE—TER 2= ZEAER KE<BERER REREREM
ATEHARG 2 AAR (ZZ-NE 111,942,000 BhESERE K LTEH
ErRE BT AYERERTRESAERR  EXREEE- 5o ()

% BRCRETRETS
i) BEZRURERE
REREAEERAERY
it
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 38.

168

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)
There is no transfer between different levels of the fair value
hierarchy for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
of investments in convertible bonds

As at 31 March 2018 R-ZE—N\FE=ZA=+—H
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 9 HNBE BT B RELERFEOR

Y, B 48R
L=

=

@I HEe
BEREEEEERBEX®)

BELKEMEERATEFTEZ
AEEERMEEZLAFE®
HEe—_2 - ZFE_F—NF=A
Zt—HUEFE TRAQATFERES
s EBEEMER -

ARPEEFRG  HWEBEKNARES
R RERceREERERE
EzHREEREEQAFEMEE -

ABRBREFREZF=RAFET
B2 HRE

Derivative

component

Unlisted of unlisted
investment in investment in
convertible convertible
bonds bonds

FE LT AT AR

FE 70 AT #R AR BEFEREZ
BEHFEE PTHEE D
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAT

— 121,106

168,427 (121,106)

At 1 April 2018 M-ZE— N\ A—A 168,427 —
Change in fair value loss in profit or QX FEEENEZR R 2 &

loss (Note) (Bff 5%) (56,485) —
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZZE—NF=A=+—HK

—E-AFMEA—H 111,942 —

Change in fair value loss in profit or QX FEEE R IB 2 & &)

loss (Note) (M 3E) (22,132) _
Disposal HE (89,810) _
At 31 March 2020 R_FE_TF=-A=+—H — —
Note: M5

All the loss from change in fair value recognised in profit or loss relates to
the investments in Sale CB-I and Sale CB-Il (as defined in note 19) held at
the end of the current reporting period which is included in “other gains
and losses, net”.
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39. NOTES SUPPORTING THE CONSOLIDATED 39. e E R ERK =
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEETHEANBBEHER:

Loan from Loans Loans
anon- from a from a
Lease controlling substantial former  Convertible
liabilities interest shareholder associate bonds Total
(Note 26)  (Note 28) (Note 28)  (Note 28) (Note 30)

RE#FER RE-2XR REAHE
HERE BHERX KRREX LFTER TRRES )
(Kt af26)  (By=E28) (Ktzt28)  (MfaE28) (Kt z£30)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THET FHET THET THET

As at 1 April 2018 RZZE—\F
MA—H — 7,923 - - 554,515 562,438
Financing cash flows HERENE - 10,582 25,000 4,900 (25,025) 15,457
Finance cost HBER — 2,424 - 127 129,142 131,693

As at 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=A

=t+-—H — 20,929 25,000 5,027 658,632 709,588
Adjustment upon RERBRERE
application of BELERE16%
HKFRS 16 B 5 411 - - — — 411
As at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NE
MA—H 411 20,929 25,000 5,027 658,632 709,999
Financing cash flows HERENE (1,306) — (18,000) 9,800 - (9,506)
Early redemption of REBOAHRKRES
convertible bonds - - - - (89,606) (89,6006)
Modification of convertible & 2 ] # % & %
bonds - - - - 27,749 27,749
New lease entered ANHHE 4175 - - - - 4175
Finance cost BBER 116 - - 556 146,367 147,039

As at 31 March 2020 WZE-ZF
=A=t-H 3,396 20,929 7,000 15,383 743,142 789,850
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

170

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of amounts
due to the subsidiary of an associate, non-controlling
interests and former non-controlling interests, loan from
a non-controlling interest, loan from a shareholder and
convertible bonds, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves. The directors of the Company
review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of
this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

The Group monitors its capital structure using net debt to
equity ratio; whereby net debt comprises convertible bonds
less bank balances and cash whilst equity means the total
equity of the Group. During the year, the Group’s strategy
to maintain a healthy net debt to equity ratio has remained
unchanged, and the debt to equity ratio is 0.95 as at 31
March 2020 (2019: 0.50).
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Financial Summary

M=

RESULTS E

For the year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2019 2018 2017
BE=A=t-HLEE

“EZEF “T-NF “E-)\F “T—+F

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT THL T BT

Revenue Wz 14,580 18,589 15,811 9,187 19,908

Loss for the year FRER (222,462) (260,911) (230,991) (178,342) (240,947)
Attributable to: 5B

Owners of the Company KDAEAA (211,117) (260,272) (231,048) (169,788) (236,865)

Non-controlling interests FERER (11,345) (639) 57 (8,554) (4,082)

(222,462) (260,911) (230,991) (178,342) (240,947)
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B

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 March
R=R=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017
“R-%F -B-AFE ZEON\F ZF LR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$:000
THT T T THL THL
Non-current assets ERBDEE 1,376,692 1,534,215 1,631,880 1,774,942 1,824,474
Current assets MBEE 42,186 44,539 82,283 76,024 185,718
Current liabilities neYasE (70,540) (32,402) (42,953) (73,741) (120,940)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (780,565) (751,540) (604,385) (478,900) (410,236)
Net assets BEFE 567,773 794,812 1,066,825 1,098,325 1,479,016
Attributable to: FE:
Owners of the Company ARAERA (390,373) (74,957) 196,417 427,974 599,512
Non-controlling interests FERER 958,146 869,769 870,408 870,351 879,504
Total equity gt 567,773 794,812 1,066,825 1,298,325 1,479,016

172 INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



INNOVATIVE PHARMACEUTICAL BIOTECH LIMITED
EMBEREMRXBRAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

(REASESEMRI TR EREFTEZERAT)
(Stock Code f&A 5% : 399)



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	管理層履歷
	外聘顧問履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底

